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--- Upon commencing at 2:04 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everyone.


The Board is sitting today to hear a motion from Richmond Hill in connection with the application by PowerStream to change its rates for the 2006 rate year.


With me today are Mr. Sommerville and Ms. Chaplin.  For the record, my name is Paul Vlahos.  Could I have appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  I'm Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Mr. Colin McLorg and Mr. Martin Davies.  


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  My name is James Sidlofsky for the Town of Richmond Hill, for the record S-I-D-L-O-F-S-K-Y. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.


MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, sir.  My name is Helen Newland appearing on behalf of PowerStream Inc.  With my today is Michael Schafler.


MR. SCHAFLER:  Good afternoon.


MR. VLAHOS:  Good afternoon to both of you.


Mr. Sidlofsky, how would you like to proceed?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I am happy to make my submissions now.  I expect I will have an opportunity to reply to Ms. Newland's comments.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, what ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  We're not planning on taking a position on this motion, Mr. Chair.  We're here to assist the Panel in any way we can, but we're not here to make any submissions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Keep us clean, eh? 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Sidlofsky.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SIDLOFSKY:  

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  Just before I begin, I will try to speak up as best I can.  I seem to be losing my voice right now thanks to one of my sons at home.  If the Panel has a problem hearing me, please let me know and I will lean a little closer to the mike.


I am counsel with Borden, Ladner, Gervais.  BLG, as I will refer to it, is counsel to the Corporation of the Town of Richmond Hill.  We were counsel to the Town in the sale of the shares of Richmond Hill Hydro to PowerStream's predecessor corporations, Markham Hydro and Hydro Vaughan.  That actually dates back to 2000 and 2001.  The Board approved that transaction in late 2001.


Before I get to the body of my submission, I would like to thank the Board for hearing this motion.  I appreciate that the Board's time is at an extreme premium right now with the volume of distribution applications that the Board has before it.


As the Panel will be aware, I am involved in quite a number of them currently, as is my firm.  I know Ms. Newland is in a similar position.  But I do thank the Board for carving out the time this afternoon to hear this.


Richmond Hill doesn't wish to prolong this proceeding, and we recognize that PowerStream is seeking bill reductions in its application.  Clearly, that's beneficial to PowerStream's Richmond Hill customers, as it will be to other customers of PowerStream in its other geographic service area.


And I do acknowledge the difficult timing of this motion.  The interrogatory responses came from PowerStream about a week and a half before the Christmas break.  At that time, the Board and the numerous counsel, ourselves included, were dealing with a number of Board proceedings.  The Board's generic proceeding on conservation and demand management issues was taking place in the week before Christmas.  There were various interrogatory responses and other matters that were underway at that time, and immediately after New Year's, the Board's generic proceeding on the generic issues that it had identified previously took place.


We realize that there has been intense pressure on all involved in the 2006 EDR process, Board members, Board Staff, applicants and intervenors alike.


We wrote to the Board and copied the parties to this proceeding the week before the motion so that other intervenors would know that we would be seeking an extension of the January 17th filing deadline for final submissions in this matter.  As I said, the timing of this matter around the Christmas holidays has been unfortunate, but we believe that Richmond Hill has acted responsibly or has made every effort to act responsibly in this matter. 


As I said before, Richmond Hill doesn't wish to prolong this proceeding, but our submission is that the relief being requested in this motion will not prejudice PowerStream in implementing a decision of the Board on the PowerStream application nor will it prejudice the Board in considering the PowerStream application and -- excuse me, and PowerStream being in a position to implement the Board's order in time for May 1st.


The timing of responses to the outstanding undertakings in this matter has been in PowerStream's control.  Our submission is that had PowerStream simply provided complete answers to the interrogatories from the Town within the Board's time line, there would have been no time added to the process as the result of a need to bring a motion for the Board's directions in this regard.


Now, PowerStream filed its rate application in October of 2005.  PowerStream was in the first group of utilities identified in the Board's Distribution Rate Handbook.


The filing deadline for those utilities for the 2006 EDR applications, for those utilities, was August 2nd.  The impact on the schedule of the relief being sought by Richmond Hill, with respect, is a matter of days, and the acceptance by the Board of Richmond Hill's request for a brief extension to file its final submissions will ensure that there has been procedural fairness not just for the applicant, but for intervenors in this proceeding.  

If there is some immediacy to the need to process a rate order for PowerStream three months before rate orders are to come into effect and to do so over the request of an intervenor for a brief extension of time in order to ensure that the Board's record is complete in the proceeding, and that the -- that that intervenor can make its final written submissions using the best information available, then we would submit that PowerStream has also contributed to the sense of immediacy by filing its application in October of last year.


Now, with respect to the relief being sought by Richmond Hill in this motion, it's important to keep in mind, I believe, that we are here on a motion and not on a hearing of the application.  The PowerStream 2006 EDR application is the subject of a written hearing.  Intervenors have an opportunity to make their written submissions to the Board, and PowerStream will have an opportunity to reply to those submissions.


The Board is not here today to determine whether PowerStream should be undertaking a harmonization of its rates across its geographic service areas.  That may be the subject of Richmond Hill's written submissions and of PowerStream's reply, but it is not the issue for the Board today.


Richmond Hill's motion, which is the matter that is before the Board today, relates to three issues:  First, PowerStream's obligation under the Board's rules of practice and procedure to provide complete answers to interrogatories put to it by an intervenor; second, Richmond Hill's ability to rely on and refer to the report of Bill Harper, a consultant to the Town, as the Town's evidence in this proceeding; and, third, the need for a brief adjournment of the Board's January 17th, 2006 deadline for written submissions pending the outcome of this motion, and that's the deadline for written submissions from intervenors pending the outcome of this motion.


Excuse me, sir.


Now, I will speak to those three specific items in a moment.  I would just like to mention, without going into an argument of the merits of this application, that this matter of harmonization of the rates of Richmond Hill customers with those of other customers in the PowerStream service area has been a matter of concern for Richmond Hill, and it is documented as such, for quite some time now; in fact, dating back to the November 2nd, 2000 share purchase agreement among Richmond Hill and the Corporation of the Town of Markham and the Corporation of the City of Vaughan.  At that time, the share purchase agreement provided for the sale of shares of Richmond Hill Hydro Inc. to Markham and Vaughan.


Now, this chronology is, in fact, addressed in the affidavit of Joan Anderton, which has been filed with the Board together with the Board's notice of motion -- excuse me, together with the Town's notice of motion.

In that share purchase agreement, there is a section 7.7 which has been abstracted in Ms. Anderton's affidavit.  This provides that the purchaser’s covenant that after the closing date the distribution rates charged to distribution customers within the municipal boundaries of the Town of Richmond Hill will be harmonized with the distribution rates charged to the purchaser’s customers, subject to Board requirements.  That would mean harmonization with customers in Markham and Vaughan.

The applicants in the MAADs application, the mergers, acquisitions, amalgamations and divestitures application, under the Board's filing guidelines for such applications acknowledged that there will be a harmonization process, and that the harmonization would take place within first generation performance-based regulation.  And that would, in fact, end this year with the coming into force of the new 2006 electricity distribution rates.

The Board clearly, as will be obvious, approved the MAADs application, authorized the sale of the shares of Richmond Hill Hydro Inc. to Markham and Vaughan, and the Board did acknowledge the concerns of certain intervenors regarding rate harmonization.  In fact, one intervenor had requested that the Board require Amalco, which was the intended amalgamation of a number of electricity distributors in York region, Markham, Vaughan, Aurora and Newmarket to re-file the pending rate applications of the individual utilities and impose a condition that rates for Richmond Hill ratepayers be no higher than those of the purchasers following closing.

Now, the Board did not require harmonization at that time.  However, there have been other opportunities which Richmond Hill submits could have been used for harmonization.  There were rate adjustments that took place in 2002.  The Board will recall that initial rate orders, initial distribution rate orders, under the 2000 Distribution Rate Handbook came into effect in 2001.  There were opportunities for rate adjustments in 2002, 2004 and 2005, and to date, harmonization has not taken place among the PowerStream service areas.

Now, I should note, because I know that Ms. Newland certainly will, that PowerStream was established last year, in the spring of last year as I recall, as an amalgamation of Markham Hydro, Hydro Vaughan Distribution, and Richmond Hill Hydro.  To that point, Richmond Hill Hydro had been operated as a separate entity.

However, that being said, the beneficial owners of PowerStream are identical to the beneficial owners of Hydro Vaughan and Markham Hydro which initially owned Richmond Hill Hydro following the approval of the transaction in late 2001.  Since that time, PowerStream has also received approval to acquire the shares of Aurora Hydro Distribution, and that application was made in March of last year; that transaction was approved by the Board in the fall of 2005.

Now, Richmond Hill has maintained that rate harmonization or Richmond Hill has understood, to this time -- excuse me, throughout this time, that rate harmonization should benefit many of Richmond Hill's customers, as customers in the Richmond Hill service area are paying higher distribution rates than those customers in Markham or Vaughan have traditionally or historically been paying higher rates.

Those differentials in rates and the implications of those differentials are addressed by Mr. Harper in his report of October 2005, and were addressed in the interrogatories that are the subject of this motion.

Mr. Harper's calculations suggest that Richmond Hill customers, that is, customers in the Richmond Hill service area, have been paying between three and four million dollars a year more due to the lack of harmonization by PowerStream and its predecessor corporations compared to what their distribution costs would have been had harmonization taken place.

Now, as I said, I don't wish to go into a great amount of detail about that because that is really not the subject before the Board today.  Provided that Richmond Hill has an opportunity to file its final argument, I expect that you will be seeing comments like that in the final submission. As I said, those comments are already -- can already be found in Ms. Anderton’s affidavit.

In fact, they can also be found in the letter from Mark Rodger, one of my partners at BLG, that was sent to Mr. Chatten of PowerStream, the affiant in the responding affidavit in October of last year.

The Town's concern, that is Richmond Hill's concern, has been that there be a clear -- at the very least, and it may be Richmond Hill's position in its final argument, that harmonization should be taking place in 2006.  But again, as I said, that's a matter for final argument, but at the very least, there should be a clear commitment from PowerStream to apply for and implement harmonization for the 2007 rate year.

Now, you will hear and you will likely have seen in reviewing Mr. Chatten's affidavit and the accompanying exhibits, that -- and in fact, in reviewing the responses that PowerStream did provide to Richmond Hill's interrogatories, that PowerStream considers that it has made a commitment to harmonization in 2007.  Once again, this will be a matter for argument, but among the concerns that the Town has with that commitment is that it is tied to the completion of a cost-allocation study and the implementation of cost-allocation-related adjustments together with harmonization, that is together with geographic harmonization.

Richmond Hill, having waited for now upwards of six years to see the benefits of harmonization, is concerned that, in the event that the combination of cost-allocation adjustments and geographic harmonization adjustments leads to what the Board may consider to be unacceptable rate impacts, then once again harmonization may suffer and the customers of the Richmond Hill service area may suffer by virtue of harmonization having to take a back seat to cost-allocation-related adjustments.  Richmond Hill is extremely concerned about this.  And as I said, I expect you will see submissions to that effect in Richmond Hill's final argument.

For now, with respect to the first item of relief being requested by Richmond Hill, Richmond Hill is seeking an order directing PowerStream to provide full and adequate responses to Richmond Hill's interrogatories numbers 1, 2, 3 and 4.

Now, in Mr. Chatten's responding affidavit, he indicates that PowerStream misunderstood the Town's interrogatory number 1, and pointed the Town to the location of the information that would provide Richmond Hill with the response to interrogatory number 1.

Richmond Hill thought it was making a fairly simple request in interrogatory number 1.  We are certainly prepared to go to the portion of the Board's -- or the PowerStream 2006 EDR model to look at the impact.  It would have been helpful if PowerStream could have prepared the table in the form we requested it, but we are not making a -- we are not making a huge issue of interrogatory number 1.

Interrogatories numbers, 2, 3 and 4 are a little different, however.  PowerStream did respond to these interrogatories.  And what Richmond Hill was seeking in those interrogatories was information as to the historical and future -- not in the sense of a future test year, but in the sense of 2006 impacts, on Richmond Hill's customers of the past and current failure of PowerStream to harmonize its distribution rates.


Now, what Richmond Hill did in putting those interrogatories to PowerStream was it provided, once again, in the case of Mr. Harper's October, I believe it was 24th report ‑‑ because, as is clear from the record, PowerStream was provided with a copy of Mr. Harper's report approximately a month before interrogatories from intervenors were even due, that was provided along with Mr. Rodger's letter of October 28th to PowerStream.


And, in any event, the interrogatories provided, once again, a copy of Mr. Harper's report and some additional material prepared by Mr. Harper related to the 2006 application, as the report itself had pertained to historical effects of the failure to harmonize.  And those interrogatories sought PowerStream's comments on the Ecoanalysis Consulting Services report.  That is, Mr. Harper's report.  
And in Interrogatory No. 2, for example, Richmond Hill asked whether PowerStream concurred with the conclusion of the ECS report, the Ecoanalysis report, that harmonization of Richmond Hill's rates with those charged by Hydro Vaughan and Markham Hydro would have reduced the annual electricity distribution charges to Richmond Hill ratepayers by $3 million to $4 million annually over the period March 1st, 2002 to April 1st, 2006, and that this represents a savings in distribution charges of 13 percent to 18 percent depending on the 12-month period considered.


If PowerStream did not agree with the conclusion of the report, then PowerStream was asked to provide its estimate of the annual change in electricity distribution costs to ratepayers in the Richmond Hill service area that would have occurred had the distribution rates, including rate riders, been harmonized in the past.


Interrogatory No. 3 ‑- I will deal with these as a group, because the responses are effectively identical to each of those interrogatories.  Interrogatory No. 3 sought PowerStream's confirmation that the material provided by Mr. Harper represented the results of harmonizing PowerStream's proposed 2006 distribution rates, in one case excluding regulatory asset riders, in another case including regulatory asset riders - that is really the difference between Interrogatories No. 3 and No. 4 - across the three service areas so as to maintain the same overall revenues and the same fixed and variable split by customer class.


If PowerStream did not agree with Mr. Harper's calculations, then PowerStream was asked to explain why and to provide its own calculations of those impacts.


Now, as I indicated ‑ and this was really the reason for providing some of the history to this matter to you today ‑ harmonization has been a significant concern for the Town for quite some time.  And, of course, harmonization was one of the terms under which the sale of the shares of Richmond Hill Hydro were sold in 2000 ‑‑ closed in 2000 -- as the transaction closed in 2001.


Now, PowerStream did respond to those interrogatories, but they didn't provide the information requested in Interrogatories Nos. 2, 3 and 4.  The response, and I am paraphrasing here, but the response was effectively that ‑‑ it was effectively a refusal to answer the undertakings, saying that they're not relevant because PowerStream does not intend to harmonize its rates for 2006 and because Richmond Hill has put documents to PowerStream and asked PowerStream to respond to them.  PowerStream doesn't feel that it's obliged to respond to an intervenor's material that is put to an applicant, although much of that material was in the applicant's hands a month before the interrogatories were filed.


 Now, the last portion of that comment is mine and not PowerStream's, but it is the case that PowerStream does not feel that it is obliged to respond to this material that was put to it.


Now, the ability to put material to an applicant and have it respond to that material is common -- the action of putting material to an applicant and having them respond to it is common in cross‑examination in hearings before the Board, and it is really not clear why it would not be appropriate here.  This is a written hearing.  There is no cross‑examination.  There is no viva voce evidence being put before the Board.


In written proceedings, the interrogatory process is really the closest thing we have to cross‑examination.  Rule 28 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure provide for the establishment of an interrogatory process that, among other things, permits a full and satisfactory understanding of the matters to be considered.


Richmond Hill has a clear interest in the matter of harmonization of PowerStream's rates.


Now, we understand that PowerStream doesn't want to harmonize its rates in 2006.  That's clear from PowerStream's application, because there is no provision made for harmonization, and it's clear from PowerStream's responses to interrogatories they don't want to do it.  However, with respect, what PowerStream wants in this proceeding isn't necessarily the issue.  


Among the Board's objectives in considering this or any other application is the protection of the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.  It's in Section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  Among the matters Richmond Hill believes must be considered is whether it would be appropriate to pursue geographic harmonization for 2006, rather than waiting for cost allocation studies in ‑‑ for the 2007 rate year.  This goes directly to the protection of the interests of consumers with respect to prices, particularly where distribution rates for Richmond Hill customers are the highest among the three service areas.


In our submission, questions relating to historical impacts of the failure of PowerStream and its predecessor corporations to harmonize distribution rates across the Markham, Vaughan and Richmond Hill service areas, and questions relating to the impacts on distribution rates of the failure to harmonize in 2006, are clearly relevant to this proceeding.


And that is the issue to be addressed ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Sidlofsky, could you repeat that last sentence?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, I believe I could.


Questions ‑‑ it is our submission that questions relating to the historical impacts of the failure of PowerStream and its predecessor corporations to harmonize distribution rates across the Markham, Vaughan and Richmond Hill service areas, and questions relating to the impacts on distribution rates of PowerStream's failure to harmonize in 2006, are clearly relevant to this proceeding, and that's the issue to be addressed by the Board on this motion.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, sir, getting back to the ‑‑ just getting back just for a moment to the distinction that I have drawn between what the Board needs to deal with in considering the application and what the Panel needs to deal with in considering this motion.  The Board may ultimately determine that it won't require PowerStream to harmonize its rates for 2006.  The Board may simply reject Richmond Hill's argument, should Richmond Hill make an argument in that regard.


As I've tried to be clear, I am not making that argument today.  What I am saying today is we need this information, and I will speak more about that in a moment.


But the Board may accept a submission from Richmond Hill, should it be made, to the effect that rates should actually be harmonized this year, for 2006, and that PowerStream should be filing a harmonization plan with the Board in the context of its 2006 rate application.


The Board can reject that.  PowerStream is clearly suggesting that you do.


My concern about some of the ‑‑ at least some of the PowerStream responding material in this motion is that it really speaks to the rejection of a Richmond Hill position in the hearing itself and less to the matters that are before the Panel today, which are simply the receipt of proper responses to the interrogatories and the other matters in our application for relief.


The Board may also determine in dealing with the ‑‑ in disposing of the PowerStream application, that it will direct PowerStream to file a harmonization plan for 2007.  
Now, you will see in the PowerStream responding materials that Mr. Chatten has taken you through the various commitments that PowerStream considers itself to have made with respect to harmonization.  But it is within the Board's purview to direct PowerStream ‑ once again, this is not in the disposition of this motion, but in the disposition of the application - the Board could direct PowerStream to bring forward a harmonization plan.  This would not be unusual or -- well, it's not necessarily common practice, but it is certainly not unheard of in the Board's jurisprudence.  
The Board directed Hydro One in its transmission decision, in 2000, to bring forward a policy in its next rate application that addressed the disposition of Hydro One transmission assets or the sale of assets to Hydro One's customers.  In fact, the Board was very interested in knowing why Hydro One wouldn't be interested in having its transmission customers acquire transmission assets and take responsibility for those assets.
In the 2003 decision of the Board on Enbridge's 2004 distribution rates, that is commencing October 2004, the Board indicated that it expected Enbridge to file a revised earnings sharing calculation similar to that contained in one of the appendices of its draft 2005 rate order filing.  The Board also gave other directions to Enbridge, including recording ratepayer credits arising from this decision on the 2004 OM&A.
The Board also indicated, in Hydro One's last distribution application, not the one that is currently before the Board but the previous one in I believe 2003, that it expects that the Board will -- excuse me, it expects that Hydro One will review the matter of low-voltage charges and deal with that matter in what is now its current rate application for 2006.
The Board can make those directions to PowerStream.  The Board can indicate its concern or its expectation that PowerStream bring forward a rate harmonization plan for 2007, for the 2007 rate year, and that that should be made a priority over cost-allocation-related adjustments.
Now, as I said, that is not a matter for today, but what that does do is it highlights, I hope, for the Board, the relevance of this material related to the impacts of a failure to harmonize to this point and going forward for 2006.
MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I have to interrupt you, sir, and ask you a question so I can be absolutely sure.  Why can't Richmond Hill make a request when PowerStream files for 2007?  In the event there is no plan, harmonization plan, Richmond Hill can come forward and seek the Board's direction for PowerStream to file such a plan.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, we're concerned that it be absolutely clear to this Board -- I appreciate that there will be a different Panel dealing with PowerStream's 2007 application.  I say different Panel, not necessarily because the composition will be different, but because I am aware of the inability of one Panel of the Board to fetter the discretion of another Panel of an administrative tribunal.  I do acknowledge that.
However, clearly from other actions the Board has taken in other proceedings, the Board has made its expectations clear.  And Richmond Hill is concerned -- first of all, as I said, Richmond Hill hasn't made its final submission yet.  Its final submission at this time may, in this application, may be that harmonization should take place.
But, if that is not the case and Richmond Hill is content to allow the 2006 rate application to go ahead and monitor the next round of applications for 2007, we are concerned that it be very clear to PowerStream, to the Board itself, and to all concerned parties -- there are --obviously there are other intervenors in the PowerStream application, although they're not represented at today's motion.  But we are concerned that it be abundantly clear to Richmond Hill -- excuse me, to PowerStream that harmonization is to be a priority for PowerStream in 2007.
And sir, the fact is that PowerStream conceivably could make an application in 2007 that doesn't address harmonization.  And you're absolutely right, we would be back in the 2007 rate-making process saying a lot of the same things we would be saying now, that harmonization is critical; Richmond Hill customers have been waiting a significant length of time for that.  But we are concerned that there be a record here not only of PowerStream's statement of commitments, and the substance of those commitments will also likely be commented on in our final submission, but not only should there be statements of what PowerStream submits are its commitments to harmonization in 2007, but there should also be a recognition by the Board, at this time, of the importance of harmonization to the Town of Richmond Hill and the need to address this matter  if not this year, when the Board makes its final determination on this application, if not this year then clearly for 2007.
As I said, it is not unheard of for the Board to be expressing those expectations or making those directions in a previous proceeding.
MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, just further.  You mentioned "if not this year" can you help me understand as to -- I understand what you're saying, your position is you're not going to be able to form that opinion, make that submission until the end of the proceeding, the 2006 proceeding.  So "if not this year", I'm sorry, if this year, then how do you see it play?  If you're going to make a submission that you should harmonize in 2006, based on what evidence?  All you're asking the Board to do is direct PowerStream to answer certain interrogatories.  Is that the fulsomeness of the evidence that you rely on?
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, that is where I get to one of the other two points, the two areas of relief that we are seeking.
MR. VLAHOS:  I just wanted to say I'm still not exactly clear what the precise relief you're seeking is, but...     

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, as I mentioned, the first area deals with the interrogatories and the responses to them.  The second area of relief - I did mention it previously - relates to Richmond Hill's ability to rely on and refer to the report of Mr. Harper as the Town's evidence in this proceeding.
Sir, again, trying to maintain this distinction between the motion and the ultimate disposition of the application, we are not in this motion asking the Board to direct PowerStream to do something in its 2007 application. We are simply trying to get material or -- and answers that we believe are relevant to Richmond Hill's ability to make its submission in this proceeding.
Now, this gets me to the second item of relief, and that is the acceptance by the Board of the October 24th, 2005 report of Ecoanalysis Consulting Service prepared by Mr. Harper, together with the additional materials prepared by him in support of Richmond Hill's interrogatories that were directed to PowerStream, as the written evidence of Richmond Hill in this proceeding, that is, if necessary, pursuant to Rule 11 of the Board's Rules.
Now, Rule 11 provides that the Board may permit amendments to the evidentiary record or order amendments to the evidentiary record that may be necessary for the purpose of a complete record.  
Now, the material prepared by Mr. Harper is already on the record in this proceeding.  It is on the public record.  In fact, it was acknowledged in a letter that is included as Exhibit B to Ms. Anderton’s affidavit.  It was acknowledged by the chief financial officer for PowerStream on November 10th.
Now, that letter, to my knowledge, was delivered to the Board as well.  And in that letter, the chief financial officer writes to Ms. Anderton to reiterate PowerStream's commitment: 
“To submit an application to harmonize our –” I'm quoting here, “- our electricity distribution rates across our four rate zones in conjunction with available cost allocation information for implementation in 2007, subject to the approval of the Ontario Energy Board.”


In that letter, Mr. Glicksman - for the record, that is G-L-I-C-K-S-M-A-N - the chief financial officer for PowerStream, confirms that he is in receipt of the October 28th and, in fact, November 7th correspondence from Borden Ladner Gervais from Mr. Rodger at our firm, and the accompanying harmonization analysis prepared by Ecoanalysis Consulting.


So this material has been with PowerStream now, at least the Ecoanalysis report ‑‑ and I will distinguish that from the additional material that was provided with respect to the 2006 application and Mr. Harper's analysis of that, but the October 2005 report was provided to PowerStream in October of 2005.  It's acknowledged on the record by Mr. Glicksman, assuming ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, that's the public record that you're referring to?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, my understanding was that this letter to Ms. Anderton was sent to Mr. Zych.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It does not include the report, though?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  This letter does not include the report, that's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When did the report get into the public record?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The report was provided to PowerStream with Richmond Hill's interrogatories.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  That's PowerStream.  PowerStream has it.  Does any other party in this proceeding have that?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I believe those interrogatories were provided to all parties to the ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So a copy of this report found its way into the hands of every intervenor?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I believe that's correct, sir, yes.  Our practice has been to file ‑‑ when we have been acting for intervenors in these proceedings, we have been filing our interrogatories with all parties.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And so when you filed your interrogatory, that is when this hit the public record?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.  And my recollection is that interrogatories were due on November 30th --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- in this second -‑ PowerStream was actually part of the second ‑‑ it was -- for filing purposes, for the purposes of filing the 2006 rate applications, it was in the first group of historical test year filers.  It was to be in the first group of utilities, actually.  At that point, there wasn't really a distinction drawn between historical and future test year filers, I don't believe.  I think any utilities in that first group, whether they were filing forward or historical, were to have filed October 2nd.  Procedurally, what I understand happened was that because there was a smaller group of utilities that filed later, PowerStream, Brantford Power - there were a couple of others in that procedural order - they were filing historical test year filings.  They were subject to a different procedural time table, and my recollection is that interrogatories in that application were due ‑‑ sorry, interrogatories for those applications were due November 30th.  Responses were due December 14th.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So Mr. Harper's material actually - in fact, not only the October 24th report, but the additional material relating to Mr. Harper's brief analysis of the 2006 PowerStream application - was on the public record.  It was definitely clearly filed with the Board for the November 30th, 2005 deadline.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So keeping to the issue here of the procedure that applied to historical test year filers, the fact is that the Board didn't provide, in its procedural orders, for evidence to be delivered by intervenors in those proceedings.


And I'm certainly not involved in all of the historical test year applications, but I am not aware of a great deal of intervenor evidence that has been provided in those, in any of those historical test year applications.  My understanding of the way these applications have proceeded is that there's really a core group of intervenors.  There don't seem to be a great number of individual intervenors, in particular, historical test year applications.  


So what has typically happened is that a very small number of intervenors will be ‑‑ will file final arguments in the historical test year applications, but there hasn't been, that I am aware of, any situation -- although I hesitate to say "any", because I am not aware of all of them, but I am not aware of other situations in which historical test year applications have been the subject of intervenor evidence.


This makes the Richmond Hill application ‑‑ excuse me, the Richmond Hill evidence slightly unusual and the PowerStream proceeding slightly unusual in that regard.  But my submission in this regard is that Richmond Hill, first of all, has put this material on the public record, and, secondly, ought to be entitled to rely on it, having done so.


If procedurally that means that PowerStream should have an opportunity to submit interrogatories to Richmond Hill in respect of the Harper material, that would be understandable.  But that is a matter that can be addressed by the Board, without denying what amounts to the procedural fairness in favour of the Town of Richmond Hill to rely on the Harper evidence that is clearly before the applicant and before the Board in this matter.


The third item, and it is actually not quite in this order in the notice of motion, but the third item that Richmond Hill requires relief on is the timing of its final submission in this matter.


As the Board is aware, the deadline for filing final submissions in the PowerStream matter was January 17th.  Richmond Hill will be prepared to file its final argument shortly after the occurrence of one of two things.


One, the first is that the Board grant this motion and directs PowerStream to provide complete responses to the interrogatories.  In that event, we have asked that the Board grant a period of two weeks following the receipt of PowerStream's interrogatory responses for Richmond Hill to make its final submissions in this proceeding.


The second outcome of this motion would be that the Board rejects Richmond Hill's request that the Board direct PowerStream to provide responses to those interrogatories.  In that instance, we are simply asking for a one-week period in which to prepare and file Richmond Hill's final submissions in this matter.


Under the circumstances of this proceeding, and while I do acknowledge the difficult scheduling challenges the Board is facing with this volume of 2006 electricity distribution rate applications, it is Richmond Hill's submission that this does not prejudice PowerStream in getting a timely order.  It does not prejudice the Board in being able to issue an order to PowerStream in a timely manner.


Now, clearly, in terms of the Town's ability to rely on the Harper material, we do intend to rely on that in our final submission.  We are hopeful that the Board will concur with us in considering this a matter of public record, anyway ‑‑ in any event, and effectively the evidence of Richmond Hill in this matter.


This is the only evidence that Richmond Hill has submitted.  It is clearly relevant to this proceeding in that, in our submission, Richmond Hill is entitled to raise issues related to harmonization in the context of the PowerStream 2006 rate application.  


The Board's 2006 EDR handbook does speak to harmonization.  It doesn't require utilities to file harmonization plans in their 2006 applications, but we submit that it is open to intervenors to submit that that should be the case, particularly in the context of the Board's need to consider consumer price protection in the context of its deliberations on these applications.  


We have also requested -- made a request for costs in this motion.  Richmond Hill has asked what we submit are reasonable and relevant interrogatories of PowerStream.  Had those interrogatories been responded to in a timely manner and responded to completely ‑ I shouldn't say they weren't responded to in a timely manner, but they were not responded to adequately, in the Town's submission - there would not be a need for this motion.  Accordingly, we are seeking the Town's costs in the motion.

Sir, those are my submissions at this point.  If I could just, before I step away from the microphone and Ms. Newland takes over, I just wish to make one more comment about the issue of relevance here.

The concern here is simply that -- I mention this because I can't stress enough that the Board is not deciding the application today.  The Board is deciding whether the interrogatories that have been put to the Board -- excuse me, to PowerStream, are appropriately answered by PowerStream -- or are appropriate for a response from PowerStream.

In one case of the Ontario High Court, Kay v. Posluns, the court referred to a semblance of relevancy test, and indicated that, I quote:

“Semblance of relevancy is the proper test for the suitability of questions on cross-examination at examinations for discovery.  The ultimate reasonableness of the relevant issues is for the trial judge.  A discovery of wide latitude should be permitted, but there are limits.  Semblance of relevancy is not to be interpreted as an open door to harass a party by exploring all dealings that it may be involved in.  The questions must relate to relevant issues.  It is necessary to rule on individual questions or groups thereof because there is a limit to semblance.”

Admittedly the court there did place some notional limits on the relevancy of certain questions, and the suggestion seems to be that these issues of relevancy need to be considered on a case-by-case basis.

But once that threshold is met, that there is a semblance of relevancy to the questions being put to the applicant, then it is our submission that those questions should be allowed to be put to the applicant and should be answered by the applicant, with the ultimate test of whether the relief sought by the intervenor is appropriately to be granted -- is appropriate or not, is a matter for the panel when it considers the -- when it finally considers the application before it.

Once again, I hope I've made it clear as to the distinction between the motion and the ultimate disposition of the application.  Thank you, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  What we'll do is we will ask some questions now, and then you will have an opportunity again, of course, to respond and then we we're probably going to ask some more questions.

Mr. Millar, do you have any questions from your end in terms of clarification?

MR. MILLAR:  Not at this point, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky, before I let my colleagues proceed, I have the intervention letter by Richmond Hill and at the very end of it, it does contain the statement that “The Town,” that is Richmond Hill, “will not be seeking a cost award in this proceeding.”  

And also the Board's response to that intervention request, which is dated November 14th, does state that -- does acknowledge that the Corporation or the Town of Richmond Hill would not be applying for an award of costs.  So I'm just wondering whether you were aware of this.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am aware of that letter, sir.  I am aware that the Town was not requesting an award of costs.

This matter, this proceeding is being dealt with by way of a written hearing.  The Town isn't requesting costs in respect of the matters related to the written hearing.

For example, Richmond Hill is not seeking costs on account of -- or a cost award on account of its costs incurred in preparing interrogatories, or in -- well, in preparing interrogatories is probably the best example.  Here, though, we're before you today as a result of PowerStream's failure, in Richmond Hill's submission, to provide full and complete responses to the interrogatories.  That has necessitated this motion.

So that in the normal course of the proceeding, the Town is certainly not requesting costs.  We wouldn't request costs for preparation of interrogatories, we won't be requesting costs on account of preparation of final argument.

This is effectively an extraordinary step in this proceeding, in that we simply haven't received the answers to the questions that we've put to PowerStream.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  Ms. Chaplin?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  First, Mr. Sidlofsky, in your initial submissions with respect to your motion materials, you've said that you're not too concerned about interrogatory number 1.

Can I conclude from that that you're withdrawing that section of your motion or not?  I'm left confused as to what the exact status of that part is.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It's not ideal, in that -- I mean it appears there was a misunderstanding.  I mean Mr. Chatten indicates in his affidavit that there was a misunderstanding of the question, and that is fair.

Mr. Chatten, in his affidavit, also pointed Richmond Hill to the area in the PowerStream 2006 EDR model in which the information that Richmond Hill is seeking can be found.  We can deal with that.  It's not ideal.  It would have been preferable to have something on, you know, one page comparing the rates in the way that we've asked them to, and we've asked PowerStream to compare the distribution portion across its three geographic service areas; to compare the bills across its geographic service areas.  Ideally, we would like to see an exhibit like that.

We can deal with it.  It simply takes a bit more time to assemble the information.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So you're not happy, but you are not seeking a direction from the Board that they file any additional material with respect to that question?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think we can -- we can get the information that we need from the model.  It will take a bit more time to assemble that, but as I said, we are not, at this point, going to make an issue.  To really get to the nub of your question, we're not going to take issue with the response to interrogatory 1.  We can deal with that.

Our concern fundamentally is with 2, 3 and 4.  We have responses from PowerStream that don't provide any confirmation of the material that Mr. Harper has put together.  PowerStream is in the best position to do that.  PowerStream is the amalgamation of its predecessor companies.  They can do it.  We can't.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, Mr. Sidlofsky you answered my question.  That's all.  You will have plenty of opportunity.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Then you said in a couple of places that the relief you're seeking doesn't prejudice PowerStream's application and doesn't prejudice a timely order being issued, but you seem to also acknowledge that if Mr. Harper's material is accepted as evidence, that PowerStream may well wish to ask interrogatories on that.  So that would seem to me to add an additional step and some additional time, and I guess conceivably PowerStream may seek to file reply evidence.

Once those additional procedural steps are incorporated, in order to ensure the standard of fairness, what does that do with the likelihood of being able to issue a timely order?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I have two comments on that, and both relate to the issue of prejudice to PowerStream.

First, I have no idea whether PowerStream will seek an opportunity to submit interrogatories to Richmond Hill.  But certainly if the Board concludes that PowerStream ought to be entitled to do that, then PowerStream hasn't been prejudiced to this point, because it will have that procedural opportunity to seek responses to interrogatories to put questions to Richmond Hill; effectively, you know, questions on the Harper material.

So procedurally, at this point, PowerStream won't have been prejudiced, in that they will have a full opportunity to respond to the Harper material.

Now, there is also the aspect of prejudice as it relates to timing.  Now, as I've said, we are asking for a short period of time after the Board ‑‑ either after the Board gives its decision, if the Board isn't going to require PowerStream to answer these undertakings, or a short period of time after PowerStream actually answers the undertakings, if that is the Board's direction that PowerStream do so.


It's now coming up to the end of January, and rate orders are expected to be in place for May 1st and that's what the Board is working toward.  I know that Staff are working toward it, and applicants and intervenors are working toward that, as well.


I am aware, because our firm is counsel to the applicant, that there are forward test year applications that are the subject of oral hearings going on right now.  Toronto Hydro is going on, Hydro One.  Enwin is yet to proceed, and Enwin is scheduled for -- to begin I believe the middle of February.


In our submission, there is still adequate time ‑‑ I won't say ample, because I'm fully aware of the Board's timing, of the Board's concerns about timing, but there is adequate time for the procedural steps to be taken that would allow for PowerStream to submit interrogatories and receive responses.


If PowerStream were to have, for example, well, one to two weeks to submit their interrogatories and the Town were to have one to two weeks to provide responses, that is a month.  And you know, as I said, we would be prepared to proceed with our final argument, our final written argument, within, at most, ‑‑ given what we have suggested in our motion, at most, two weeks after the receipt of those -- of the interrogatory responses.  There is no reason we couldn't proceed to file our final argument within two weeks after PowerStream's receipt of Richmond Hill's interrogatory responses.


So I think the point is you could be looking at roughly six weeks of additional time.  That's only if PowerStream seeks to submit interrogatories.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chaplin, before you leave this area, if I could follow up on one item?

Mr. Sidlofsky, I was just looking at the notice of application for PowerStream, which is dated back ‑‑ I don't have a date, but -- yes, it's October 12.  October 12.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  You will notice here that there is no mention of any harmonization.  And I guess my question, before you move to a different area, is:  In your view, is there an issue here about whether the notice has been appropriate, or do we have to schedule in some allowance for a new notice to accommodate the possibility of harmonization, as you may choose to make a submission on?  


Is there an issue -- is there a legal issue about a proper notice being served?  And if not ‑‑ I'm sorry, if there is an issue, then do we have to add some time to allow for a proper notice?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, it is not clear to me that there is, and I say that ‑‑ that there is a difficulty, in terms of notice, and I say that because the application itself has been filed with the Board.  Parties have had an opportunity to declare their concerns about the application, and Richmond Hill, like other intervenors, filed an intervention letter.


Richmond Hill expressed its concern about harmonization at that time.  This isn't a matter that has not been before the Board.


In the course of the Board's consideration of various applications, various distribution rate applications, the scope of the application can change over time, from the time that the application is initially filed to the time that the Board disposes of it.


Parties with an interest in the application ‑‑ and you're absolutely right, sir, the application doesn't say anything about harmonization.  Parties with an interest in harmonization had an opportunity to intervene.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It does say something about harmonization.  It says it does not intend to harmonize for 2006.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir, I'm afraid I don't have the notice in front of me.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The application itself, the application itself explicitly states that the applicant does not intend to harmonize for 2006.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, that's correct.  The application does.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  The notice is silent.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right.  The application does say that PowerStream doesn't intend to harmonize.


Now, had that been an issue or a concern for potential parties to this proceeding, they have had an opportunity to intervene in the proceeding.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If I may, Mr. Chair, one of the issues that concerns me here, Mr. Sidlofsky, is the idea that it is really in the course of this motion for the first time that your client has suggested that harmonization for 2006 ought to be within play and that everything prior to that, including your letter seeking late intervention, doesn't talk about implementation of harmonization in 2006.


It says, "In short", and I am quoting from the letter, second paragraph of your letter -- actually, Mr. Rodger's letter to the Board of November 7th.  It says:

"In short, the Town is concerned that PowerStream formally reiterate its commitment to the harmonization of its distribution rates in 2006 for implementation in 2007 in the context of this 2006 distribution rate application."

     So there has been no flag for any of the others who may be adversely affected by the proposition that distribution rates ought to be harmonized in 2006, that that is in play until your motion of January the 17th; isn't that right?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, the Town's intervention letter did speak to the need to reiterate the commitment, that's correct.  And PowerStream has already told the Board, in the course of Mr. Chatten's affidavit - and he will likely tell you again - that PowerStream is reiterating its commitment to do that.


Our concern, though, at this point is that when we've asked PowerStream about the impacts of the failure to harmonize, we're not getting an answer.  What we're getting is a statement that, Well, it's not relevant because we're not harmonizing.


What I can say, perhaps by drawing an analogy to other proceedings - and I alluded to it a few moments ago - is that applications can change their scope in the course of the proceeding.


In the submissions ‑‑ and, actually, the historical test year applications are a good example of this, in that in most cases the only indication of the intervenors' desires, with respect to a particular application, will come in the final submission of the intervenor.


There is no provision for evidence.  The intervenors haven't provided evidence, and the intervenors, typically, in the historical test year applications, have been very brief in their intervention letters.  Schools Energy Coalition, for example -- and I don't have an intervention letter in front of me, so don't take this as a quote, but, you know, the letter of Schools will identify the constituency they represent.  They will express their concerns about applications generally, and it is really only at the time that the Board ‑‑ that intervenors - and whether it is Schools or VECC or any of the other typical intervenors in these applications - the only time they really have to show their hand or they have really been made to show their hand in these proceedings is in the context of their final submissions.


There is no oral hearing where they're calling evidence.  There is no -- typically, there hasn't been evidence that they've filed.


So that, if anything, parties are seeing earlier than they might what Richmond Hill's concerns are in this proceeding.  Because it would be open -– sorry, I'm not sure if you were going to say something.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, go ahead.  Go ahead.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But it would have been open to Richmond Hill to take the interrogatory responses as they came and file a final argument on January 17th that says:  You know what, we've put this material to PowerStream.  We are concerned, let's say - this isn't necessarily going to be my argument when we're allowed to make it - but we've put this information to Richmond Hill.  We've asked for a response -- excuse me, we have put this information to PowerStream.  We have asked for a response.  This is the response that we've got.  It is clearly deficient.  It concerns us that we can't get confirmation from PowerStream as to what the impacts of not harmonizing would be.  And because of that, what we can tell from Mr. Harper's material is that the impacts are three to four million dollars a year on Richmond Hill customers.
We believe that, given Mr. Harper's calculations, which is the only thing we've got because PowerStream won't do theirs, we believe that given Mr. Harper's calculations there is an issue to be dealt with now.  And the way that that issue should be dealt with is by requiring PowerStream to file its harmonization plan now and proceed with it.  That could be, could have been, excuse me, a final submission from Richmond Hill without going through this process.
If anything, parties to this proceeding have learnt sooner what Richmond Hill's concerns are.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Does that help you, sir?  I'm sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It helps to some extent.  I think what we would be faced with at that point is a rebuttal that says this is not evidence and you can't argue on things that are not evidence.  And that the appropriate thing may well have been -- this is, I think this is the argument you may well be faced with if you took that course.  It is that the appropriate thing was on November 10th when the Board's procedural order emerged, to then seek the Board's leave to file evidence and to file the report that you’d had since October 24th, and in fact distributed to PowerStream on the 28th.  That would have been the appropriate course to follow rather than this kind of, Well, here's some information.  It's not evidence.  We ask that you -- we're requiring you to respond to it and your failure to respond to it, there should be an adverse inference drawn from that.
I mean, that is kind of the structure that you're suggesting, and I think it suffers because the appropriate thing may well have been to file your evidence on November 10th or shortly thereafter and to say, Yes, while the procedural order didn't provide for evidence, we want to file some.  That would have made this a much easier argument for you to make, I think.  Isn't that so?
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Are you -- before I answer, I just want to be clear.  Is that a possible response to the argument that the Town might be making had it not brought this motion?  Or is that -- is that a concern about this?
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't know how you argue from a document that isn't evidence.  The document that isn't evidence, how do you argue from that?  I mean, I think you're going to face a very persuasive challenge on that score, aren't you?
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, that may be.  And once again, the material has been on the record, and it has been acknowledged as such.
As a matter of potential prejudice, I think we're at the point in the proceeding now when, as I suggested, PowerStream isn't prejudiced by having this material considered the Town's evidence in this proceeding.  And I think in light of the procedural process in these historical test year filings, there has been a bit of a challenge in terms of understanding what material may and may not be evidence in this proceeding.
We provided the material to PowerStream.  It went on the public record.  If the Board considers the more appropriate course to have been bringing a motion at that point with the Board to have this material considered evidence, what I would say to that is that, with the request being made now, there is no prejudice to the applicant by it having been made now.
I mean, if that is a concern of the Board, that's regrettable.  We have attempted to address that situation now, as it appears that there is some question as to the status of this material.
Richmond Hill considers it to have been on the record for some time now.  But that can be corrected by the Board while providing procedural fairness to all parties.
MR. VLAHOS:  Let's go back to Ms. Chaplin.
MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I think, actually in that subsequent discussion you have answered my questions, because my last one really was to the issue that Mr. Sommerville has most recently raised with you.
Is your bottom line -- I mean you could have objected to the interrogatory answers right after they were answered; it took a month.  You explained the reasons why it took a month.  You could have applied to the Board to have Mr. Harper's material entered as evidence and you could have done that even earlier than the interrogatories.  You did not do that.  
But it seems to me you're saying, despite all of that, somewhat –- well, you didn't.  Now at the 11th hour, you're saying, but it's all okay.  It should all be allowed now because there is no prejudice to PowerStream.  Is that sort of it in a nutshell?  
And just while you are thinking about that, separate and apart from any prejudice to PowerStream, what about the credibility and coherence of the Board's processes?  We set these deadlines.  A month is a very long time to take to determine that an interrogatory answer is insufficient.  That's a concern that I have.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  On the first question, I think -- I would suggest that there is a bit more to it than this wasn't done, but it's okay because there is no prejudice to PowerStream.
I appreciate that the applicant is entitled to procedural fairness here.  However, the concern here -- among the concerns here is that fairness -- excuse me -- that aside from the issue of procedural fairness not only to the applicant but to all parties, the Board should have relevant information before it.  And this leads me to your second question about, your observation about a month being a long time.
But before making a decision, the Board ought to have relevant information before it.  The Richmond Hill material is on the record.  If there is a difficulty here with respect to the status of that information, that can be corrected so that the Board's record is complete.  And that's really the gist of Rule 11 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  The Board can make the order amending the evidentiary record.  I say, if that is necessary -- because -- as I've said, that material is before the Board now, but the Board can amend the evidentiary record to ensure that the record is complete.
That's what we're asking the Board to do, if the Board considers it necessary, in that regard.


Now, the lack of prejudice to PowerStream is an important thing.  And this is where I will get to your observation about the timing.  The lack of prejudice to PowerStream is significant.  They can respond to this material, if the Board considers it necessary to provide them with that time.


So they will have an opportunity.  The matter can be argued fully, as a matter of written argument, and the Board will have its complete record before it and the Board can dispose of this matter at that time.


In terms of a month being a long time, the interrogatory responses were delivered on December 14th.  I personally was out of the province between ‑‑ from Christmas through New Year's, and December 14th was roughly ten days before the Christmas holidays.


When we came back after New Year's, I -‑ oh, sorry, I should also mention that following our receipt of the interrogatory responses, we did contact counsel to PowerStream and advise that we were ‑‑ we expected to be receiving instructions to bring a motion with respect to the interrogatory responses.


We came back after New Year's.  We were preparing the motion material.  We advised the Board the second week in January that the motion would be coming.  We were preparing the motion.


In fact, we wrote to the Board on January ‑‑ excuse me, I believe it was January 12th.  Excuse me, January 13th, to advise the Board that we would be making the motion.  We did that, in part, first of all, to make that clear to the Board, but, secondly, to ensure that intervenors in this proceeding knew that we were bringing this motion.  Among the relief ‑‑ the items of relief that we requested was the extension of the deadline for filing the ‑‑ for filing final argument.


It is unfortunate that these matters happened over the holiday period.  As I said earlier, though, we do believe that we were acting responsibly in the timing of this matter.


As the Board will be well aware, there are numerous applications going on now.  There is actually very limited number of counsel who practice in this area, and I think all of us are completely tied up with the Board's proceedings as they are right now.  That is not an excuse necessarily, but it is a -- I hope, an explanation.


In terms of a month, given the holiday break, as well, a month really wasn't ‑‑ it wasn't that long a period.


MR. VLAHOS:  What would explain the late intervenor status request, Mr. Sidlofsky?  I wasn't clear as to what has taken so long to make the request for intervenor status.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, I don't believe the ‑‑ I don't recall the deadline for -- the deadline in the notice for letters of intervention.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chaplin points out that you were a week late.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  Sir, there had been previous discussions with PowerStream representatives with respect to harmonization issues.  I think it simply took a bit of time, and it's quite a brief period of time, for the Town to determine that it would intervene in this matter.


I am not trying to harp on this, sir, but I would note that the deadline for the PowerStream application was August 2nd of last year.  It was filed the beginning of October.


Richmond Hill is really talking here in terms of days.  And, as I said, I am not commenting here on whether it was good or bad that PowerStream filed their application two months late, but Richmond Hill is not asking for significant extensions of time here.  And there was clearly nothing that had happened, procedurally, in the one week, the one additional week that it took Richmond Hill to intervene in this proceeding.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, I think we established that you're not asking for an extensive delay.  I guess the discussion was is there is a risk of a substantial delay if all of the things have to play out as they should according to the economic rights provided in the rules.  I think that is what the discussion before was.


You're only asking for two weeks under a certain scenario, but it could play out a little longer than that.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, I think what I had suggested, sir, was up to six weeks, which puts us into March.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Ms. Chaplin?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Those are my questions.  Thanks.  
Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One brief other area.  I'm sorry, Mr. Sidlofsky.  I know this is difficult.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It would be easier with more water.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you need some more water?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm still okay for now, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  That's a good thing, because we don't have any up here either.


MR. VLAHOS:  It was supposed to be a five-minute motion.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  My concern has to do with relevance of the Ecoanalysis report, Mr. Harper's report.  It sort of surrounds this issue.  
If we assume for the moment that the idea of the requirement or the argument related to filing a 2006 harmonization program, if we go back to ‑‑ hypothetically, if we were to insist that you stay within the boundaries of the reasons that you provided when you made your late intervention request, which had to do with the reiteration of the commitment, so if we go to that subject and we say, the idea of a 2006 implementation of geographic harmonization is off the table, if that isn't something that you would be permitted to argue in this case because of the terms of your late intervention request, the basis upon which you were granted that status, and we say that -‑ then we are left with the idea that the subject matter that you want to be able to argue is this idea of a Board direction to the applicant to the effect that they will provide a harmonization program to be implemented in 2007, without regard for the cost-allocation study.  Isn't that what we're left with?  Isn't that the relief that would be sought by you in your submission?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I think you could have that in two ways.  You could that have in the event that the Board determines that Richmond Hill wouldn't be permitted to argue that harmonization should take place in 2006.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Although, clearly, I have concerns about the suggestion that that could not be a subject of argument.  In fact, my concern is that intervenor status is granted on the basis of intervention letters that are quite vague, actually, where it is not clear what the intervenor's position will be, but ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That wasn't the case here, though.  That wasn't the case here.  Just to take that line of thought, wouldn't you agree with me that the idea of arguing and seeking a Board order to the effect that the applicant ought to provide a harmonization for 2006, wouldn't you agree with me that that is a fairly revolutionary suggestion for this application, with fairly far-reaching effects for not just your client, but for other ratepayers and other parties?  It's a fairly revolutionary proposition in the context of this application; is it not?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, perhaps I could answer that with a bit of an analogy first.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Other intervenors in historical test year applications for 2006 have taken the position ‑‑ maybe I will step back for a moment.


Typically, what we have seen as counsel to a number of distributors in their 2006 applications is that intervenors will file with the Board written arguments that are really in two stages, or in two parts.

The first part -- maybe I will mention the second part first because that gets it out of the way.  The second part tends to be application specific.  There is something wrong with a number of the tier-1 adjustments that are claimed, for example.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The first part, and this may be a function of timing, because it is either a function of timing or, you know, I expect it is also a function of the fact that these are universal issues that these intervenors want to address.  But the first part of the submissions tends to relate to broad concerns about various applications.
For example, certain of the arguments will speak to the fact that analyses have been conducted of various distributors, and the distributors have sort of been grouped into high-cost, median-cost and low-cost groups.  And the suggestion has been, in a number of those arguments, that there should be some movement toward bringing those higher-cost utilities down to the level of the median.  
And the difficulty with that - and I guess I'm making these comments not so much as counsel to Richmond Hill but as counsel who has been on the receiving end of a number of these arguments - is that that takes what amounts to a fairly revolutionary approach to rate-making, in that there is really no evidence -- I shouldn't say it is revolutionary.  
I mean, clearly the Board has considered such matters as benchmarking and issues like that and the comparators and cohort study.  But the idea that simply as a blanket matter the Board should reduce the revenue requirements of various utilities because they happen to fall above the median or a certain percentage above the median, the first time that that's being seen in the context of these applications is when the final arguments are being made.
And those have impacts on customers.  Those submissions can have impacts on reliability as well.  And the Board is being asked to consider those at the time of the final argument.  
And what I am suggesting is the Board has an opportunity here to grant the applicant the opportunity to test the information that it's been provided, if the applicant wishes to do that.  And to that degree this is, you know, there's probably more fairness in this proposed approach.  I understand the Panel's concerns about timing, but there is likely more procedural fairness in this approach than there has been in the context of final arguments that are being made in the written historical test year applications.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
MR. VLAHOS:  I think we should let Ms. Newland come in at some point, after one question, though.  
Mr. Sidlofsky, you talked about how you or your client have not decided whether you are going to take the position that harmonization should be part of the 2006 rates, and to do that you need to know the responses to the interrogatories.
If I could just ask you some questions on this:  Is it the link you're seeking, is it the quantums?  What is it that may turn or may tip the decision on yes, let's ask for 2006?  I'm just not clear as to what would make you decide or not decide to ask for 2006.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I think the quantum is important.  I wonder if I might step back to Mr. Sommerville's question for just a minute, because I may not have answered it fully, but it relates to your question.
MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if the other item -- sorry, if what Richmond Hill were left with was only the ability to argue about whether the Board should give a direction for 2007, I think that was the other part of your question.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That was the other part.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I may have missed that, and it relates to Mr. Vlahos's question as well.  
If what Richmond Hill is left with is the ability to argue for a clear commitment, and the acknowledgement by the Board of that commitment, and the direction by the Board that that plan be brought forward for 2007, regardless of cost-allocation work, then the answers to these interrogatories are still relevant.
Richmond Hill -- in order to make that submission and to make that submission as ably as it can, we need to know whether Mr. Harper's work works.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you need it for 2006 application?  Why not make that -- what is the prejudice to you, and to your client, if you are limited in making that submission for the next rate application which really puts the harmonization timetable that you have in mind in play?  That's my concern about the relevance of this.  What you're seeking is a direction from the Board in this case to, sort of, colour the next rate's case.
It seems to me that it is arguable that it is more appropriate to do that in that next case and that the Ecoanalysis analysis is fuel for that then.  And it is, sort of, more appropriate and closer to the point than it is in trying to seek from the Panel dealing with the rates application, this current rates application, seeking a direction to do that, without regard to what may be substantive issues arising from the cost-allocation study.  That is kind of the problem that I have.
I'm not sure what kind of unequivocal direction the Board could provide in this case, that is, the 2006 rates case.  It seems to me altogether more appropriate to do that and more relevant to do that for the 2007 case when those factors can be appropriately dealt with.  And you would have full range to make your submission at that time.  That's an arguable point of view, I think.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, one more analogy, and it is part of the answer to the question.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In the last Hydro One distribution rates case, which I believe was in 2003, Hydro One had indicated that it would need to prepare certain studies for its next rate case.  Things like lead/lag study, cost of capital study, there was also an asset study.  I don't recall that they mentioned all of those specifically, but there was a group of studies that they intended to bring forward for their next rates case, which of course is underway now, that's the 2006 application.
     The Board said in its decision, essentially, and I'm definitely paraphrasing here, but the Board's response was, Okay, we expect you to do that.  
Now, Hydro One has undertaken those studies and the merits of them are obviously before the Panel, or the merits of the work that they did are clearly before the Panel that's dealing with their 2006 application.
PowerStream did clearly answer at least one of its interrogatories by reiterating the commitment that Mr. Glicksman made in his letter, that Mr. Glicksman suggested -- actually that Mr. Chatten suggests that Mr. Glicksman made in his letter to Ms. Anderton, and in its response to interrogatory number 6 -- excuse me, if I could have your indulgence for a moment.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Exhibit B to the –

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes,  it is.  I was just turning to the page, sir.  In its response to Interrogatory No. 6, first of all, the question was whether -- in part, whether PowerStream would commit to the completion of full harmonization of rates across its three service areas for 2007.


PowerStream does indicate in its response that it will prepare and prosecute an application to the Board seeking the approval of distribution rates for 2007.  These distribution rates will be fully harmonized across PowerStream's entire service area on the basis of a system-wide cost-allocation study.  That's the first point.  
And after PowerStream indicates that it cannot commit to the completion of full harmonization of rates because completion is the Board's prerogative, but PowerStream does say that they will bring an application to the Board for fully harmonized rates.  They will conduct and complete a cost-allocation study in 2006 as the basis for its application for 2007 distribution rates, and if there are delays in the Board's -- first of all, they intend to do so in the context of the Board's cost-allocation review, and PowerStream believes that the schedule for that review would permit PowerStream to complete its cost-allocation study as the basis for a timely rates application.


And the response goes on to say that if there are delays in the schedule that would preclude a timely rates application, however, PowerStream would nevertheless proceed to complete a cost-allocation study as required to make a timely rates application.


And in a manner similar to the Board taking what Hydro One has advised were the studies that it intended to complete in its next application, PowerStream now has indicated on the record - and I suggest they would say they have indicated a couple of times on the record - but they have indicated that they intend to do this.


Well, sir, in my submission, there is nothing wrong with the Board saying to PowerStream ‑ again, not in the context of this motion necessarily, but in the context of disposing of the PowerStream application ‑ we want you to do that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why can't you make that submission to the Board:  By the way, Board, it is part of the record.  This is the response to the questions by PowerStream.  They have committed to do the study, cost allocation or no cost allocation.  Board, here is my submission.  Would you please provide that guidance or direction to PowerStream.

Why do we have to involve another study in this part of 2006 rates application?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, and this gets me back to your question, I think, and follows up ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  It will be the last response, and then we have to go to Ms. Newland.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Certainly.  I would welcome that, actually.


MR. VLAHOS:  I wanted to do that some time ago.  You just wouldn't let me.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, that is a possibility, and then of course Richmond Hill would be there in ‑‑ later this year when PowerStream makes its application.


As I indicated, though, and as you will see in Mr. Rodger's letter of October 28th, which is ‑‑ it's actually an exhibit to Mr. Chatten's affidavit.  It is Exhibit E to Mr. Chatten's affidavit.


We are concerned about the relationship between the cost-allocation process and the harmonization process.  As I said earlier, and I will try to be brief on this answer, but as I said earlier, Richmond Hill is concerned that if the result of the cost-allocation process, combined with the harmonization process, leads to what the Board would consider to be unacceptable impacts, and typically to now they have been bill impacts of more than 10 percent for customer groups, Richmond Hill is concerned that if mitigation measures need to be implemented, then what will take the priority in the implementation measures is the geographic harmonization.


So, finally, after numerous years of waiting, Richmond Hill's customers, in their individual classes, will be paying the same distribution rates as customers in PowerStream's other areas.


Our concern -- one of our concerns in getting this on the record now is so that it is clear to parties and to the Board that harmonization, if not in 2006, must be the priority for 2007.


MR. VLAHOS:  Again, why can't you argue that, sir?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, we can, but one of our concerns is that because the cost-allocation process is something of an overarching process for all distributors, PowerStream will be caught up in that process, so that ultimately what takes priority is the cost-allocation process that all distributors will be subject to.


I don't disagree with you, sir, that Richmond Hill will have to be vigilant in watching PowerStream's 2007 application no matter what the Board's disposition is.


MR. VLAHOS:  My point is you could make those arguments or we can fast forward this and we're ‑‑ I'm sorry, this is a written process.  It will be a written process, but you can put exactly those things in the main proceeding.  In any event, we need a break, especially for the reporter.  So let's take a 20‑minute break, and then we will continue with Ms. Newland. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:50 p.m.


--- On resuming at 4:10 p.m.
MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Ms. Newland.

SUBMISSIONS BY MS. NEWLAND:
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.

Mr. Chairman, Panel members, there are two reasons why PowerStream is opposing Richmond Hill's motion:  Relevance and prejudice.  The harmonization issue is not relevant to our application.  Moreover, if the motion is granted, PowerStream and its ratepayers will be prejudiced.

My submissions this afternoon are in three parts.  First, I would like, briefly, to describe the three reasons why PowerStream has chosen not to proceed with rate harmonization in 2006.  Next, I want to talk about the point of departure between Richmond Hill and PowerStream on this issue of rate harmonization.  Lastly, I want to explain the reasons why we refuse to answer the interrogatories and why you should deny Richmond Hill's motion.

So let me start with the reasons why PowerStream did not harmonize rates in 2006.

First of all, I think it is important to appreciate that PowerStream faced a formidable task in completing its 2006 application, because the data it required to produce rates was based on a 2004 test year was comprised of five month’s worth of data from PowerStream's predecessor utilities and seven month's worth of data from the amalgamated entity, PowerStream.  So given the fundamental different financial systems, operating and accounting policies among the three predecessor utilities, substantial time and effort was required to present consolidated data for the test year as the basis of the 2006 rates.
Now, we did consider the question of whether to harmonize rates in 2006, but we elected to continue with three separate rate zones, and we did this for three very important reasons, in my submission.
The first, and perhaps the most important reason, was that we thought it was prudent to get it right the first time by implementing both rate harmonization and cost allocation at the same time, and only after the completion of a full cost-allocation study.  We thought that this approach was the most consistent approach with the principles of rate stability, rate predictability and cost recovery.  We also thought that this approach would have the highest customer understanding and acceptance quotient.  I would like to explain all of this in a little bit more detail.
While we were preparing our 2006 rate application, we were also participating at the same time in the Board's cost-allocation review, and we were aware of the Board's plans with respect to cost allocation.  And the whole cost-allocation process is expected to occur in 2007.
Now, based on our general understanding of historic cost-allocation practices, we believe that there is a potential for residential rate increases as a result of the cost allocation.  That's not unique to PowerStream.  We expect will be the same for most, if not all LDCs.
So given that Richmond Hill has the greatest proportion of residential load among the three predecessor utilities, any increase in costs allocated to the residential class will have the greatest proportional impact on Richmond Hill.  On the other hand, given that Richmond Hill has the highest rates of the three predecessor utilities, rate harmonization will tend to reduce rates to Richmond Hill.
So rather than reduce Richmond Hill rates through harmonization in 2006, only to then increase the rates due to cost allocation in 2007, we concluded that it was better to implement both harmonization and cost allocation at the same time.  
MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland, excuse me.  On that, with the observation that there is some money left on the table for ratepayers of Richmond Hill, though?
MS. NEWLAND:  I'm sorry, sir, I don't follow.
MR. VLAHOS:  The company considered bringing forward a harmonization plan in 2006.
MS. NEWLAND:  That's right.
MR. VLAHOS:  On the assumption that the direction under such plan is for Richmond Hill rates to go down, then that decision of PowerStream has left Richmond Hill ratepayers short of some money.
MS. NEWLAND:  Relative to what they would have received under a harmonized scheme in this rate year, yes.
MR. VLAHOS:  Relative to a non-harmonized scheme, which is the application for 2006?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.
MR. VLAHOS:  And you're not aware of any thoughts the company may have had, in terms of putting some money aside for that, keeping the ratepayers whole in Richmond Hill?
MS. NEWLAND:  One moment, sir.  I might be able to give an answer to you.
Mr. Chairman, I think I might be able to -- I might be getting to that point later in my submission when I talk about the pooling of the revenue requirement and the impact of that on all ratepayers in all three zones, including Richmond Hill.
MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.
MS. NEWLAND:  Our second reason for not harmonizing rates in 2006 has to do with our recent acquisition of Aurora Hydro.  At the time of its rate filing, PowerStream had already applied to the Board for approval to acquire all of the outstanding rates of Aurora Hydro, and to -- shares rather of Aurora Hydro and to subsequently amalgamate.
Given that application, it was our -- and given our expectation that the Board would approve our proposed transaction, we saw no reason to harmonize rates for three utilities, Richmond Hill, Markham and Vaughan in 2006, only to go through the whole process again in 2007 so as to include Aurora Hydro.  So the Aurora Hydro acquisition was a complicating factor is my point.
I should mention the Board subsequently approved the Aurora transaction on September 19th of 2005.
Thirdly and lastly, in terms of the reasons for not proceeding with rate harmonization in 2006, PowerStream's decision was influenced by the fact that in its 2006 EDR application it had already taken a necessary and fundamental first step in the direction of rate harmonization, and this goes directly to your question, I think, sir.  
This was its decision to develop a common revenue requirement for the amalgamated PowerStream entity rather than continue with separate buckets or separate revenue requirements for each of the three predecessor utilities.  This had the effect of pooling, and thus averaging costs among the three predecessor utilities.
Now, as a result of this averaging, the 2006 distribution rate decreases were greater, so the decreases were greater in those zones that historically had above-average costs, that being Markham and Richmond Hill.  And the decreases were lower in the Vaughan rate zone, which had below average costs.  This effect from the pooling of costs was independent of any reduction due to the overall decrease in PowerStream's costs.  It is simply a function of the decision to have one common revenue requirement.
PowerStream considers the development of a single revenue requirement as the first step in the direction of rate harmonization, as it provides the greatest rate decreases to the rate zones with the highest rates.  Indeed, under this approach, Richmond Hill will enjoy a significant rate decrease in 2006.
I hope that answers your question, Mr. Vlahos.
So those are the reasons why we chose not to proceed with rate harmonization in 2006.  And up until the time we saw the interrogatories which were filed by Richmond Hill on November 30th of 2006 (sic), we thought that Richmond Hill understood and, more importantly, accepted our decision not to harmonize until 2007.

Even then we weren't sure, and it wasn't until we received Richmond Hill's motion last week that we finally understood that Richmond Hill appears, or may have changed its mind or changed its position and may, in fact, be seeking rate harmonization in 2006.


I say "may" because we're not sure about that.  But we really were quite surprised, I think it is fair to say, when we read Ms. Anderton's affidavit in paragraph 52 and also in the notice of motion in paragraph 18, where they state -- where Richmond Hill states that it may be arguing in favour of rate harmonization for 2006.  That was the first time we had heard that.


Now, I was going to spend a little bit of time taking you through the sequence of events starting in February of 2005 where PowerStream had started to meet with Richmond Hill to discuss the rate harmonization issue.  I wanted to describe for you the course of dealing and the course of conduct that lead PowerStream to conclude, in good faith, that there was no issue or no dispute between Richmond Hill and PowerStream on the rate harmonization issue, that Richmond Hill understood that we were committed to harmonize in 2007 and that they had accepted that commitment from us.


Given the lateness of the day, given the fact that you've read the materials or you have at least got the materials and can read them, if you wish, I'm not going to go through that sequence of events.  I would just refer you to Mr. Chatten's affidavit and the attached exhibits to his affidavit.  These are a series of letters and exchange of correspondence and description of meetings and PowerPoint presentations when it was quite clear, at least to us, that Richmond Hill was comfortable with our commitment to proceed with rate harmonization in 2007.


On October 13th, 2005, after we had filed our rate application in which we stated that we would not be harmonizing rates, John Glicksman, Mr. Glicksman, PowerStream's CFO, wrote to Ms. Anderton of Richmond Hill advising that the application had been filed.  He highlighted in his letter some of the savings that Richmond Hill customers could expect as a result of the cost pooling that I just referred to a minute ago, and, as a courtesy, on October 6th of 2005, we also couriered a copy of the application and the underlying exhibits to Richmond Hill's counsel.


Two weeks later, on October 28th, we received a lengthy letter which had attached to it the ECS, the Ecoanalysis report.  We received that letter from Richmond Hill's counsel.  And I just would like you to turn that letter up to refer to it briefly.  It can be found at tab E of our responding motion materials.  Tab E is Exhibit E to Mr. Chatten's affidavit.


Now, this is a letter from Mark Rodger, and it is to -- addressed to Ed Chatten and it's six or seven ‑‑ seven pages long.  But the part that I would like to refer you to is on the first page, the bottom paragraph.  The paragraph -- in the middle, the paragraph starts by saying:

"We take this opportunity to reiterate our concerns expressed in our meeting."


And the meeting he is referring to is a meeting that took place in July 29th of 2005, and that meeting is described in Mr. Chatten's affidavit.


He goes on to say:

"We take this opportunity to confirm our request that PowerStream formally commit to the OEB, in the context of the 2006 EDR application, that it will harmonize its distribution rates for implementation in 2007, regardless of the status of PowerStream’s or the OEB's work on cost allocation."


It is the next sentence I would like to emphasize:

"While the Town is prepared to accept 2007 as the year for implementation of PowerStream's harmonized rates, based on your recent commitment to 2007 as the year that that would take place, the Town requires that PowerStream reiterate that commitment to the OEB so that it can be acknowledged by the OEB in its decision on PowerStream's 2006 EDR application."


So at that point, on October 28th, where we're still talking about rate harmonization in 2006, it still appeared to be acceptable to Richmond – 2007, it still appeared to be acceptable to Richmond Hill.  What we were having a discussion about is the nature of PowerStream's commitment.


Now, I should say that when we received the October 28th letter with the attached ECS report we did review the ECS report, but only at a very high level.  And that review -- after that review, we realized we had serious and significant problems with the basis on which it appeared to be prepared.  


Again, these problems are set out in Mr. Chatten's affidavit at paragraphs 20 through 23.  They're not directly relevant to the matters in issue today, and I am not going to get into details about the problems, but I simply refer you to Mr. Chatten's affidavit in this regard.


The next step in the sequence was Richmond Hill's request for late intervention, which we received on November 7th, 2005.  Richmond Hill, apparently following up on the Borden Ladner letter of October 28th, was seeking as part of that intervention a commitment on the part of PowerStream to harmonize rates for implementation 2007.


So at that point, on November 7th, Richmond Hill was still okay with harmonization in 2007.  In any event, PowerStream didn't oppose the late intervention, because we believed that, number one, we had given the commitment that Richmond Hill was seeking; and, number two, that we could write a further letter reiterating that commitment to file an application for harmonization 2007.  And that's exactly what happened.


Mr. Glicksman wrote to Ms. Anderton on November 10th, and his letter is Exhibit B to Ms. Anderton's affidavit.  I'm not going to take you to the letter, but I am going to quote the very first sentence from the letter, because I think it is important.  In that letter, he says:

"I am writing to reiterate PowerStream's commitment to submit an application to harmonize our electricity distribution rates across our four rate zones in conjunction with cost allocation for implementation in 2007, subject to the approval of the Ontario Energy Board."


Now, based on our clear commitment to harmonize in 2007, PowerStream regarded the matter to be settled and we continued to hold that view until we received Richmond Hill's interrogatories and the attached report by ECS on November 30th of 2005.


That brings me to the reasons why PowerStream asks the Board to dismiss Richmond Hill's motion.  As I've already mentioned, we are arguing this on two grounds, relevance and prejudice.  Let me start with the issue of relevance.


The ECS report and responses to Richmond Hill's interrogatories regarding that report are not relevant to the Board's consideration and determination of PowerStream's 2006 EDR application, because PowerStream doesn't propose to harmonize rates in 2006.


The EDR handbook permits, but does not require, distributors who have amalgamated or acquired multiple service areas to harmonize rates in 2006.  It's permissive.  


Now, the Richmond Hill motion attempts to create an issue where none currently exists.  PowerStream, exercising its reasonable business judgment, determined that it wouldn't seek harmonization in 2006.  Now, through this motion, Richmond Hill is attempting to set the stage to argue that the Board should direct PowerStream to harmonize rates in 2006, but only on a geographical basis, not on the basis of a proper cost allocation.  Such a result would have the effect of substituting Richmond Hill's agenda for the business judgment of PowerStream's management, and I have already explained the reasons why we take the position that harmonization should only occur after a full allocation study is completed.

So in sum, there is really no need for the Board to grant Richmond Hill the relief it seeks.  If the Board accepts that PowerStream has the right to exercise its discretion to defer harmonization for good reason, then there is no need for information about what rates would look like under a harmonized scenario in 2006.  All of this can be considered in the context of PowerStream's 2007 rate application.

It's only if the Board does not accept PowerStream's decision to defer harmonization, a decision that up until very recently Richmond Hill appeared to have accepted, that the information about harmonized rates may become relevant.

Even if that is where we land, I mean even if the Board decides that harmonization should, in fact, take place in 2006, as opposed to 2007, even if that is what happens, PowerStream would still oppose Richmond Hill's attempt to introduce the ECS report at this late date and in the way it has chosen to try to get the report in.  I'm going to get to that in a moment.  But we would also oppose any request to compel PowerStream to respond to the interrogatories about the report.

Now, the reason we take these positions is because of the prejudice to PowerStream and to its ratepayers.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Could I interrupt you just for a moment, Ms. Newland, just take you back just a little bit.

You're submitting that the issue is not relevant because it is not what PowerStream has applied for.  Is it not within an intervenor’s rights to propose an alternative scenario?  I don't understand why that makes it -- that PowerStream hasn't applied for it makes it not relevant?

MS. NEWLAND:  You are correct, Ms. Chaplin.  An intervenor can raise an issue and the Board has the discretion to accept that issue as a contested issue.  That is not, in fact, what Richmond Hill has done here.  

Richmond Hill hasn't told us that it opposes the position of PowerStream in this application.  It is saying, We want this information because we want to decide what we're going to do.  It is going on a fishing trip, in my submission.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that not the purpose of interrogatories, for all intervenors to ask questions to then determine whether or not they want to oppose PowerStream's application?  I don't understand the distinction between this particular set of circumstances and the general set of circumstances, which is that intervenors, only in the course of their final submissions, will either oppose or support an application.

MS. NEWLAND:  Right.  I understand the question, I think.

The purpose of interrogatories, in my submission, is to test evidence that is already on the record, either the evidence of intervenors or the evidence of the applicant and to test it relative to issues that we all understand are issues in the proceeding.
     There are a couple of ways that parties understand what issues in a proceeding are.  Sometimes the Board will delineate those issues in its notice of application or in one of its procedural orders.  It may do so after it receives submissions from interested parties.

In this case, harmonization is not an issue that's been -- my submission is that harmonization is not at issue in front of the Board for the simple reason that, number 1, the applicant didn't apply for it, and the intervenor, Richmond Hill, hasn't asked for it to be an issue.  It hasn't flagged that issue at any point in the proceeding, and it has had many points in the proceeding when it could have done that.  I will get to that in my submissions.

So certainly, if harmonization was an acknowledged issue in this proceeding and parties knew that it was, then Richmond Hill would be free to test the applicant's evidence in this regard, but that is not what has happened here.  I'm just going to get more into that in the next couple of submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MS. NEWLAND:  Where I left off, Ms. Chaplin, before I responded to your question was, I was making the submissions that there was no need for the Board to grant Richmond Hill the relief it seeks because if the Board accepts that rate harmonization is not an issue for 2006 but only for 2007, then this information that Richmond Hill seeks to put on the record and seeks to have tested in a very unique way is just not necessary.  It can all be considered in the context of the 2007 rate application.

It is only when the Board makes a decision that rate harmonization is an issue in this proceeding, should it be pursued, and should it be decided that the ECS report may become relevant.  But again, I will reiterate my submissions of a few moments ago, even in those circumstances PowerStream would still oppose the request for relief that Richmond Hill seeks because of reasons of prejudice.  

The first ground of prejudice is this:  We relied on Richmond Hill's representations when we prepared our rate application and filed it in early October.  Almost two months later, on November 30th, Richmond Hill delivered the interrogatories now in issue.

And even then, there was no hint that Richmond Hill was reversing its prior position and advocating that the issue of rate harmonization could be a live one in the current application.  It was only when we got the motion, three months after the application was filed, and on the day that final argument was due, that this occurred.  And even then, Richmond Hill's apparent change in mind was buried in an equivocal line in paragraph 52 of Ms. Anderton's affidavit; the same line appears in paragraph 18 of the notice of motion.

So the point is that we prepared -- in good faith, we prepared our application on the well-founded belief that Richmond Hill had accepted the decision to proceed with harmonization, and having done so it now faces the possibility of being required to re-file its application, to effect geographic harmonization in 2006.  That appears to be a possibility, a possible outcome.

So that's the first aspect of the prejudice issue, but there are other aspects.

The second aspect has to do with how Richmond Hill has tried to introduce the report into our proceeding.  Richmond Hill, in my submission, is attempting to do indirectly that which the Board has not given it the right to do directly.  It has attempted to file written evidence under the guise of a series of interrogatories by attaching those interrogatories -- attaching that report to an interrogatory and then arguing that the report is somehow "on the record".

Now, if Richmond Hill had wanted to rely on the ECS report, it could have and should have, in our submission, requested the Board to amend its procedural order to permit it to file the report and submit it to testing by other parties through the normal process.

Mr. Chairman, in our submission, Richmond Hill should have done this directly after the Board issued the procedural order on November 10th, 2006 -- 2005 rather.  2005.  Richmond Hill chose not to follow the proper and accepted practice in this regard.  It, instead, chose to slip the ECS report in through the back door.  

What causes the prejudice to PowerStream is that through this device, Richmond Hill is attempting to force PowerStream to validate the ECS report.  We didn't commission the report.  We played no role in its creation.  We don't know what methodology or underpinning assumptions were used to arrive at its conclusion.  A cursory review of the report suggests to us that there are significant concerns about how the report's conclusions were derived.


In my submission, it would be unfair and unreasonable to compel PowerStream to analyze, deconstruct and reconstruct the report in order to verify or correct its conclusions as the case may be.  But that is precisely what Richmond Hill is attempting to do in its interrogatories.


So faced with this situation, PowerStream said, No, what you're trying to get us to do is unfair, unreasonable.  We're not going to respond to improper interrogatories.  But we didn't just say no.  We set out our reasons very clearly, and in doing so we were guided by the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  In particular, we were guided by the Board's requirements set out in Rule 28 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.


I think it is important to just take you to these briefly.  For your convenience, I will just hand you Rule 28.  I'm referring to the first page, page 16, section ‑‑ paragraph 28.01.  I will read this into the record:

"In any proceeding the Board may establish an interrogatory procedure to (a) clarify evidence filed by a party; (b) simplify the issues; (c) permit a full and satisfactory understanding of the matters to be considered; or (d) expedite the proceeding."


Now, if you turn up the response of PowerStream to Interrogatory No. 4, you will find those responses, Panel members, at tab D of the Richmond Hill motion materials.  We made the same response ‑‑ I just picked number 4, but we made the same response to Interrogatories Nos. 2 and 3.


What we state is as follows:

"The Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure provide for an interrogatory procedure that is intended, among other things, to clarify evidence filed by a party."


We refer to Rule 28.01:

"An interrogatory, among other things, must contain specific requests for clarification of a party's evidence, documents or other information in possession of the party and relevant to the proceeding."


There the reference is to Rule 28.02(d).  We say that PowerStream interprets the phrase "in the possession of a party" to mean, in effect, in the possession of the party prior to receiving the interrogatory.


Here we come to the nub of our objection:

"The Town is accordingly not entitled to give PowerStream documents, such as the ones that are attached to this interrogatory, and then request PowerStream to respond to the interrogatory as if the documents were PowerStream's own.  PowerStream is not obliged in consequence to study the documents, try to understand them and the assumptions on which they are based, and then respond to the interrogatory as if the documents were its own, nor is PowerStream obliged, as an alternative, to prepare corresponding documents of its own."


Then I won't continue to read this verbatim, but the rest of the response talks about the lack of relevance of the interrogatories and the amount of work that would be required to respond to the interrogatories, which - I don't want to overstate this ‑ would be considerable, because we would have to deconstruct the report, reconstruct it in accordance with our own assumptions.  To do that, we would have to have some underlying understanding of the reports, and there would have to be some process to allow us to do that.


We would have to do all of this work to answer these interrogatories.  But, in any event, we shouldn't be compelled to do that not just because of the work that would be required to do it, but primarily because of the prejudice to PowerStream.


Richmond Hill shouldn't be allowed to use interrogatory process to have PowerStream verify Richmond Hill's evidence.  That should happen ‑‑ Richmond Hill should, if it wanted to have this evidence in, gone through the proper procedure to get it in, and then call its own witness to have that report verified.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Newland, looking at Interrogatory No. 2 and 2(b), in particular, an answer to that question is not dependant upon a review of the ECS report in any degree it seems to me; is it?


MS. NEWLAND:  2(a) is.  Your question, sir, is with respect to 2(b)?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  2(b).


MS. NEWLAND:  You're correct, sir.  It is not precisely ‑‑ it's not precisely to do with the ECS report.  And I wasn't going to get into some of these problems, but it has a whole separate ‑‑ there are a number of other concerns with this particular interrogatory having to do with the fact that, number one, PowerStream was only -- has only been in ‑‑ only came into being in 2004.  That would be one concern.  So going back in time might not be appropriate.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So is the answer that you would give, with respect to 2(b), that it's too difficult to answer that question, given the history of the utility?


MS. NEWLAND:  That's right, sir.  And I would refer to the difficulty just getting a set of data for 2004 on a consolidated basis.  Even going back only to 2004, we had seven month's worth of predecessor data and five month's worth of consolidated data.  So to go back, as I believe Richmond Hill was seeking, to 2002 or 2001 when the Richmond Hill shares were first acquired, would be a very difficult task, and the results would depend on the assumptions we were making, so...

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That answer is given in Mr. Chatten's ‑‑ I think that answer is sort of given in Mr. Chatten's affidavit, but it is not given in the interrogatory response.  The interrogatory response treats that question, I think, like it does all of the others, that it is out of court because it's not relevant, and you can't give us this report, and then ask us to comment on the structure and details of the report.


MS. NEWLAND:  I think that is probably a fair conclusion, although I would point out one thing, Mr. Sommerville, and that is if you read ‑‑ I don't mean to quibble with you at all or dance on the head of a pin, but if you read (a), the question (a) is:

"Please confirm whether PowerStream concurs with the conclusion of the ECS report."


And then (b) links the ‑‑ the response in (b) is linked to (a).  It says, If you don't agree with the rates ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would you take the ‑‑ are you taking the position that any questions about rate harmonization, past, present or future, are inherently irrelevant to the consideration of your application?


MS. NEWLAND:  I am, sir.  And the reason I am taking that position is, at this point in time, rate harmonization is not an issue in this proceeding.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just further to Ms. Chaplin's question, though, I think you agreed that applications can evolve to some extent, and that many applications start with a proposition put forward by the applicant and evolve to a different -- some different iteration during the course of a proceeding.


Is it your submission that rate harmonization in 2006 is not an evolution, or how do you characterize that as an evolution within the application?


MS. NEWLAND:  I would respond in this way.  I would say, number one, that in our submission, Richmond Hill is estopped at this point.

A lot of my argument on this issue has to do with a question of timing.  If Richmond Hill had come to you after we had filed our application and said, You know what, PowerStream is not seeking to harmonize their rates.  We think perhaps they should.  And in order to reach a conclusion about that we would like to test their evidence and their application.  This is what we propose doing.  Could you please make that an issue?  I think we would have a different argument here today.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky says that there is no prejudice to you because whatever complications may arise in accommodating his request they can be fit into the sort of schedule that would result in a rate for May 1st.  I think that is right.  Mr. Sidlofsky, isn't that right?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is what I said, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So if we regard prejudice as inability to produce a rate order pursuant to your application in time for May 1st, are you prejudiced?

MS. NEWLAND:  I just want to understand the basis of your question.

Are you suggesting that the Board would compel PowerStream to answer these interrogatories without actually saying that it should harmonize?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  What I'm getting at is a much simpler question than that.  That if we brought this evidence into play, as Mr. Sidlofsky asks us to do, and if we gave you whatever opportunity was a reasonable opportunity to respond to this material, and that could all occur within the time frame prior to -- to produce a rate order for May 1st, the question would be:  What is the prejudice?  That's his proposition, I think.

MS. NEWLAND:  Right.  And I agree.  If it could all be done in the time frame that would allow rates to be effective May 1st, there wouldn't be any timing prejudice.  I still maintain there would be prejudice by requiring us to validate someone else's report.  But on the pure, narrow issue of timing, if it could all be done by May 1st, there wouldn't be a timing prejudice -- there wouldn't be prejudice from timing.  But as I will make submissions on, we don't believe that can actually occur.

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland, just to clarify.  You're not going to be asked to validate someone else's report.  I don't think that is what Mr. Sommerville was asking you.

He was asking that:  Should this issue of harmonization play in this 2006 proceeding with the appropriate timelines for evidence and interrogatories to the evidence, that sort of thing.  So as long as you are clear on that.  Mr. Sommerville; is that correct?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vlahos, for that clarification.

MS. NEWLAND:  I think there are two issues.  There is Mr. Sommerville's question and his question is:  If we can accommodate Richmond Hill and still get rates in place in May 1st, what is the prejudice to PowerStream?  My response is, none, but we don't think it can be done for reasons I will get to.  

The second issue is, there would still be a prejudice issue which, because of what I call validation, really that is a shorthand term for saying, it's requiring PowerStream to take apart the ECS report, analyze it, and then say, Yes, these data are correct, or these data are not.  And that, in my opinion –

MR. VLAHOS:  My point is you don't have to do that.  I think we're talking at cross-purposes here.  I don't think you need to do that.

I don't think you need to validate anything.  If the issue is going to be on the table, then presumably Richmond Hill will file its evidence, and PowerStream will ask its interrogatories.

MS. NEWLAND:  I understand, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Then you have the right to reply evidence.

MS. NEWLAND:  I understand, sir.  What I was focussing on was the interrogatory, for example, number 2 of Richmond Hill that Mr. Sommerville took me to.  The question itself asks PowerStream to confirm the conclusions of the ECS report.  So in order to do that, we have to deconstruct, and rebuild the report.

It was a report that, as we understood –

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  I think we went beyond that though, but in any event, let's move on.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  We can move on.

Well, what I would like to move on to is the precise discussion of the timing prejudice, what I have called the timing prejudice.  Quite apart from the way in which Richmond Hill is trying to wedge this evidence in through the back door, in our submission, and waiting until the 11th hour to bring the motion, quite apart from that is the fact that the ultimate outcome of Richmond Hill's manoeuvring is that if we are directed –- well, there are two possible outcomes.  

One scenario is where the Board says, Yes, you should have filed on a harmonized basis.  Go away and re-file your application on a different basis.  In those circumstances, under that scenario, the notice of PowerStream's amended application would have to be published to advise affected parties of this change and the whole process would have to begin afresh.

In those circumstances, we say there is little hope that final rates could be put in place effective May 1st, 2006.

But even if the Board doesn't say that, even if, under another scenario the Board just says:  Answer the questions.  We accept the report as evidence.  Rate harmonization is a valid issue.  In my submission, even in those circumstances, the Board would be required to republish the notice -- to direct PowerStream to republish the notice.  Because that would be a new issue that was not on the table before.

Now, Mr. Sidlofsky says, no, no, no, no.  Parties have had a lot of time.  They usually make their positions known in final argument.  Well, I disagree.  There is a whole set of ratepayers living in Vaughan and in Markham who might have difficulty with this change or with the road that the Board or that PowerStream might be going down.  So if all of a sudden rate harmonization is an issue, maybe ratepayers would want to know about that.  Maybe other parties would want to know about that.

I refer you, Panel members, to the final argument of Schools, the School Energy Coalition.  That is the only final argument that I believe has been filed in our case.  It was filed on time, on January 17th, last week.

In that argument, I would like to read a portion of that argument, Schools says:  

“Schools is a strong supporter of the use of properly...”     

MR. VLAHOS:  Just give us one second.

[Panel members confer]

MR. VLAHOS:  Please continue.

MS. NEWLAND:  I was about to refer you to the final argument of the School Energy Coalition in the PowerStream's 2006 rate application.

In that argument, Schools states as follows, and it is a brief excerpt but it is important and I would like to read it to you.  

“Schools is a strong supporter of the use of properly conducted cost-allocation studies for determining rates.  It is in this context that Schools accepts that rates for the three PowerStream service areas are not harmonized for the 2006 application.  Schools believes that balance of interest for customers will be best served by rates developed using a full cost-allocation study and including all of PowerStream's service territories, rather than harmonizing three service areas currently and without proper cost-based rates.”

     Well, the reason I have taken you to that is to illustrate this point:  Schools has taken a position on our application.  In our application, they were not hoping to allocate rates.  They say, Normally, we would like the rates to be harmonized, but we understand the reasons why they're not being harmonized at this time and we accept them and we support that.

If all of a sudden the rate harmonization becomes a live issue in our application, it's my submission that other parties, including intervenors in this proceeding, people who are already intervenors but possibly parties who are not intervenors at this point, should be afforded notice of that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Newland, what if, alternatively, Schools had argued that they had seen your application and they had examined it, but in fact they came to the opposite conclusion and in fact harmonization should take place immediately?  Isn't that -- wouldn't that have been a possible outcome?  Would that have required -- would you, I guess, I mean what would you have done in that circumstance?  Is it not open to them to argue that?


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, we could argue it, but I would ask the Board to give it the weight it was due, and there is no evidence on the record on this issue.  I mean, my whole point is it hasn't been an issue.  We haven't filed any evidence, actually.  There is no evidence from the applicant either.  I mean, we have been focussing on Richmond Hill's evidence and whether we should let it in, or not, but PowerStream has not filed any evidence in this proceeding about why it has chosen not to proceed with harmonization.  We didn't understand it to be an issue.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, you were ‑‑ I mean, if I look at question number 3, I mean, you were invited to provide your estimate of what the impact of harmonization would be for the year 2006, if I look at 3(d).


So it was open to you.  I mean, you decided not to, but I don't see how you can now argue that it's only as of the middle of January that you realized this was an issue.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, okay, I disagree with you, Ms. Chaplin.  I guess our point of departure is I don't think it is open to an intervenor to create an issue in a hearing of its own motion, without leave from the Board, simply by asking an interrogatory.


If that were the practice, we would have no scope.  We would have no parameters on hearings.  I just don't believe that is the practice that this Board has adopted.  I think that it was incumbent -- it's my submission it was incumbent on Richmond Hill, if it wanted to make this an issue, to flag it as an issue, give everybody notice that they wanted to pursue it, and then parties could have governed themselves accordingly and the Board could have issued the appropriate directions.  That hasn't happened.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Sorry for interrupting.


MS. NEWLAND:  I only have a couple of submissions by way of conclusion, Mr. Chair and Panel members.


We urge you to dismiss the motion by Richmond Hill and decline to grant any of the relief that is sought.


We strongly oppose the suggestion that the ECS report should be allowed into evidence at this late date for the reasons I've set out in my submissions; relevance and prejudice.


I've already referred you to Mr. Chatten's affidavit where he describes the fundamental problems that PowerStream has with the ECS report.  If the report is admitted into evidence, PowerStream will be on the horns of a dilemma, if I may put it that way.  Can it risk ignoring what it considers to be a flawed report, or does it have to ask the Board for an opportunity to test it through interrogatories and perhaps even through cross‑examination?  This would, in turn, delay the disposition of PowerStream's application perhaps beyond the date of no return, and, in my submission, for no good reason, because this information is just not relevant for this particular rate year.


We also oppose Richmond Hill's request that the Board compel PowerStream to answer Interrogatories 2, 3 and 4.  As an aside, I would note that our response to Interrogatory 1 doesn't appear to be in issue anymore.


I would also note that if there was ever any doubt about the commitment of PowerStream to harmonize in 2007 ‑‑ my submission is that I can't imagine why there would have been any doubt, but if there was ever any doubt, that doubt should have been dispelled by the unequivocal response of PowerStream to Richmond Hill's Interrogatory Response No. 6.


And I would further add that this commitment was reiterated by Mr. Chatten in a sworn affidavit.  So I heard Mr. Sidlofsky suggest to the Panel that, Well, yeah, we've heard the commitment, but we can't count on it.  They may change their mind.


I don't think that you can get any stronger a commitment than a commitment made in a sworn affidavit.


Subject to any questions you have, Panel members, those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  Mr. Sommerville, any questions?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chaplin, no questions?  I have one, but I have to find it.

It goes back to, I guess, the question I had earlier on, and that is my understanding ‑ it may be just a perception - that there is directionally some rate reduction to be had for the ratepayers of Richmond Hill since the time of amalgamation.  I'm not sure where I can point to any evidence for that, Ms. Newland, but is anywhere in the evidence -- let me put the question:  Is there anywhere in the evidence that would indicate that is not the case?


MS. NEWLAND:  Is your question whether we're over-recovering with respect to Richmond Hill?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, that the lack of harmonization has resulted in the residents of Richmond Hill -- ratepayers of Richmond Hill paying higher than they would have paid otherwise, if there was harmonization.


MS. NEWLAND:  I think Mr. Chatten in his affidavit has acknowledged that if geographic harmonization was to take place in the absence of a full cost-allocation study, there probably would be a decrease in the rates of Richmond Hill.  That doesn't mean that PowerStream is over-recovering its rates, with respect, from Richmond Hill ratepayers, because, of course, Richmond Hill, is a separate rate zone and the rates for all three zones have been designed to recover Richmond Hill's approved revenue requirements.


So I wouldn't characterize this in terms of over-recovery.  But if your question is a simple:  Would the rates go down if all you did was geographically harmonize, without revisiting your cost allocation?  The answer is probably yes, but let me confirm that.


I've checked with my client.  We have nothing to add to our submissions -- or to our response.  I hope that was responsive, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  So it is an issue of -- what Richmond Hill is after is geographic harmonization.


There was some discussion earlier on, you will recall, that could -- geographic harmonization, should that happen in the absence of a cost-allocation study and should there be an order, if you like, that harmonization comes first, and then cost-allocation results come second.  Do you recall that discussion?


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir, I do.


MR. VLAHOS:  So in your view, then, there is no such ordering.  It is one in the same thing.  You cannot have geographic harmonization proceed or take a different order or higher order, higher ranking than a cost allocation.  The two have to be visited together.


MS. NEWLAND:  That is our position.


We say that that position is the most consistent with the principles of rate-making principles, rate predictability, rate stability, cost recovery.  I mean, theoretically, you could do one independent of the other.  We have looked at that and we say that the costs of doing that outweigh the benefits, if I could put it colloquially.


MR. VLAHOS:  And you have looked at that only in the context of the 2006 rates, or even prior to that?


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, PowerStream was created in, I believe, April or May of 2004.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm talking about the interests of before PowerStream.


MS. NEWLAND:  Before PowerStream, whether the predecessor utilities looked at that?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  I don't have an answer for you, but I will try to get one, sir.


I am advised - and I recall this as well being described in the materials - that the three utilities were operated as independent entities.  They weren't amalgamated.  They weren't operated -- they were legally separate, but they were also operationally separate.


So it didn't make any sense, I believe is what I've been told, to harmonize before PowerStream came into being.


MR. VLAHOS:  So as we speak, there are different zonal rates?


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.  Three zones sir.  Now I suppose, with Aurora, four zones.  I mean, Aurora is a complicating factor, as well.  It is just another layer of complications on an already complicated landscape.

MR. VLAHOS:  So it is not a question of harmonizing Richmond Hill rates to the rest, it is everyone else is separate?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, any questions on your part?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky, back to you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will try and marshal the few thoughts I have left at this point in the day and make this brief.

Reply submissions by Mr. Sidlofsky:
     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As I mentioned earlier, there was a reason I was, some might say, harping on the distinction between the motion before the Panel today and the application before the Board to be determined at a later date.  I think that with my friend's submissions, we definitely are into a lot of the application piece.

Given that, I think I should address one factual concern here.  I believe that Ms. Newland had said that there is already been a fundamental step taken in terms of the pooling of costs and using a common revenue requirement.  I think her comment was that this had the effect of pooling and averaging costs, and I believe that she went on to say that the decreases are slightly greater for Richmond Hill customers as a result of this pooling because, as the Board will be aware, PowerStream's proposing rate decreases for all of its customers' zones.

This is one situation in which the wrong answer to an interrogatory might actually be helpful.

If we could go to the response to the Town's interrogatory number 1 for a moment.  That is at tab D to the affidavit of Joan Anderton, three pages in.  It is actually marked as page 2 of 12.  Do you have that, sir?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Go ahead.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I note that what we asked for was an indication of total bills or tables showing total bills and total distribution components.  What we got was a set of tables showing impacts.  And as we can see from the two tables on that page, Richmond Hill customers aren't experiencing greater decreases than others as a result of this pooling concept or as a result of the creation of a single revenue requirement.

In fact, Richmond Hill customers are, according to the material that PowerStream has provided, receiving -- they are receiving decreases, that's absolutely correct, but they're not as great as Markham customers.

Again, this is something that would have been addressed in argument, that may still be addressed in argument in this matter, but I think Richmond Hill is somewhat concerned about understanding what the impacts of, you know, as I said earlier, the impacts of harmonization would have been.  
It's been suggested here that the impacts of this pooling approach actually resulted in benefits to Richmond Hill.  Yes, admittedly there are.  It's clear from the tables.  But as Mr. Chatten indicated in his affidavit, and as Ms. Newland has indicated, there would be additional decreases were PowerStream to address the geographic harmonization at this point.
I'm somewhat concerned by my friend's argument that PowerStream didn't oppose the Richmond Hill intervention, because to paraphrase, they figured they could write a letter that would reiterate their commitment and that would address the issue.
I'm troubled by the notion that the applicant can pick and choose how an intervenor participates in a proceeding.  The implication seems to be that had PowerStream thought that there was some greater concern or some other concern that Richmond Hill had, that PowerStream would have or may have opposed the application.  Richmond Hill intervened.  Richmond Hill was an intervenor in this proceeding.  We appreciate the efforts that PowerStream has made towards a form of commitment to harmonization, but -- and those commitments are on the record.  They're on the record in this motion.
We remain somewhat concerned about -- and again, I'm going into the merits of the application, but we remain somewhat concerned about the nature of the commitments that are being given here.  And I'm certainly not attempting to impugn Mr. Chatten's integrity.  That is not the issue at all here.  But if we look at Mr. Rodger's letter of October 28th which was referred to by Ms. Newland, and Ms. Newland referred to the first page of that letter.  That letter goes on -- that is, excuse me, that is Exhibit E to the Chatten affidavit for the Board's assistance.  
That letter does certainly say what it says on page 1.  But Mr. Rodger also proposed wording for that commitment later in that letter.  I'm not going to read the three paragraphs on page 6 of that letter, but what I can say is that the proposed wording from October 28th addresses the concern that I indicated in my initial submissions that Richmond Hill has, that geographic harmonization needs to take priority over cost allocation, if both can't be done.
And this letter was provided to PowerStream on October 28th.  Shortly after that, Mr. Glicksman wrote his letter to Ms. Anderton and copied to the Board, in which he said:  

“I'm writing to reiterate PowerStream's commitment to submit an application to harmonize our electricity distribution rates across our four rate zones in conjunction with available cost-allocation information for implementation in 2007 subject to the approval of the Ontario Energy Board.”
     We're not exactly on the same page here, in terms of what Richmond Hill was expecting in the context of a commitment from PowerStream and what PowerStream has been providing.  That shows up in the November 10th letter from Mr. Glicksman.  That was provided to the Board at that time, to my knowledge.  And it shows up in the Chatten affidavit.  
And yes, there is a form of commitment there, but to suggest that the commitment's been provided, we're not talking about completely the same commitment here.  And that raises -- that has raised concerns for Richmond Hill.
Following the Glicksman letter, Richmond Hill filed its interrogatories.  And Richmond Hill, as Ms. Chaplin has pointed out, Richmond Hill had asked for two things in those -- actually in each of interrogatories, 2, 3 and 4.  And my friend has suggested that we are looking for PowerStream to validate the work of Mr. Harper.
Well, if the work of Mr. Harper can be validated by PowerStream, fair enough.  That's probably a good thing.  But the alternative to that, and in each case PowerStream was provided with an alternative, the alternative to that was:  If you don't agree with it, give us the calculations.  Tell us what the impacts are.
And the commitments don't match with Richmond Hill's request.  PowerStream isn't prepared or hasn't been prepared to respond to the interrogatories saying, We're not going to give you the answer.  We don't think this is relevant because we're not doing this this time.  And here's the commitment we're going to give you.
That raises not only concerns from Richmond Hill, but I suggest it raises the need to ensure that this issue can be properly addressed in this proceeding.  I'm not in a position to say, today, whether Richmond Hill intends to insist on harmonization in 2006, but certainly Richmond Hill ought to be entitled to understand the impacts of that.  If PowerStream doesn't like Bill Harper's numbers, that's fair enough, but the interrogatories did ask PowerStream to provide their own.  They now say it is going to take too long; before they said, not relevant.  We're not doing it.  We think it is appropriate they provide those answers.

If I may have just a moment.  I'm just paring down my comments here.  Thank you, sir.

Sir, I note with interest that in response to Ms. Chaplin's question about:  What if things had been different in the Schools submission and Schools had suggested a different outcome?  Would it not be open to Schools to argue that?  And my friend's comment was that PowerStream would ask the Board to give it the weight it's due, and that is fair enough.  

There is -- I suppose there was nothing before the Board or nothing put before the Board by Schools.  In fact, Schools didn't take that position.  However, the Board will have an opportunity to give the Harper material the weight to which it is due, if and when the Board considers that material in disposing of this application.  And Richmond Hill is simply asking the Board to confirm that it can deal with that material in the course of its submissions.  If it's necessary for the purposes of procedural fairness, then we certainly wouldn't have any difficulty with an opportunity being provided for interrogatories.


But, clearly, as you indicated, Ms. Chaplin, it can't be only since January that this seemed to be an issue.  The interrogatories were out there and they were filed on time.  And they were filed with the Harper material that PowerStream was not only being asked to confirm the accuracy of, but, alternatively, PowerStream was being asked to provide its own data.


Those, I believe, are my submissions.  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  We have no further questions, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Thank you, both parties, for your submissions today.


We will reserve, and we will issue a decision as soon as possible.  We do realize that we have to get moving on all of these files, so we will make that a priority.


Thank you very much, reporter, for your endurance.  Thank you.  We're adjourned for now.  Any matters?


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MS. NEWLAND:  Just one clarification, sir.  The original Procedural Order would have PowerStream filing its reply submissions to intervenor argument on this coming Friday.  I presume that that schedule still pertains until we hear otherwise?


MR. VLAHOS:  Reply submissions, perhaps to the people that have already filed the submissions?


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  So there is no reason for you not to reply by that time, on those submissions?


MS. NEWLAND:  No.  We can certainly do that.  We just wanted to seek clarification that is how we should proceed.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, unless you don't feel that you should proceed that way.  Any reason for you to wait until you hear the ‑‑


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, the only question is that in ‑‑ well, I guess one question - maybe Mr. Sidlofsky can address this - is his motion asks for relief not only for PowerStream, but also for all intervenors to -- so that any amendments to the procedural schedule would pertain to other intervenors.


It's our position that this is entirely inappropriate and that if the Board were to grant some or all of the relief sought by Richmond Hill, that relief would only pertain to Richmond Hill and not to other intervenors, and that the current schedule for other intervenors should continue to apply.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  I'm not sure, though ‑‑ I don't know who has -- who is an intervenor and who has filed submissions and what are the issues from their perspective, but I take it that Richmond Hill is here only for one issue, and the others don't have that issue.


I don't know.  Perhaps I can look to Staff here for some assistance.


[The Board confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Do Staff have any information on this topic before I provide the Panel's views on this?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I understand there are a number of other intervenors involved in this proceeding, but at least I'm told that no one else appears to have this particular issue.  So there is probably no need to delay other parts of the proceedings arising out of this motion.


I stand to be corrected by the parties, but that's...

     MR. VLAHOS:  The Panel is of a different view, Mr. Millar.


I think that it won't take us long to issue our decision.  On that basis, the other intervenors that have not filed, they may wish to wait until the Board issues a decision, and, likewise, for PowerStream.  They may wish to wait until they reply to the submissions already received.  So everything will be on hold until the Board issues its decision, which will be shortly.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, may I just ask one question about that?


As Ms. Newland indicated, and as I think I acknowledged, the deadline for filing final argument on the part of intervenors was January 17th.


We've brought this motion.  As you know, the relief we've requested includes a request that we have one week, if the Board denies the requests, to require PowerStream to respond to the interrogatories.  And, I should also note, if the Board denies the request to treat the ECS report and the accompanying -- the additional information from Mr. Harper as evidence, my concern is simply that the Board understands that it would be of significant concern to Richmond Hill if it were somehow foreclosed from being able to file any final argument as a result of the Board's decision.


So I simply want to confirm that at this point we are entitled to wait for the Board's decision and we're not required to file our argument now in advance of that.


MR. VLAHOS:  That is correct, sir.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.


MS. NEWLAND:  Sorry, I don't mean to prolong this, but is your ruling, sir, that intervenors would have a further opportunity, beyond the date which has come and gone, to file evidence on this issue, only, or if someone didn't bother to file on time, are you saying they can now file their argument on all issues late?


MR. VLAHOS:  No.  I don't think I said anything about this issue.


What I said, and I hope the record will be clear on this, there are certain intervenors that may have filed their submissions already.  There is nothing we can do about this.  There may be other intervenors who have not filed yet because they have received the letter from Mr. Sidlofsky advising that there would be a request for an extension of submissions.  So...


Mr. Millar, the Board said everybody to file on time; is that what the Board said in that?  There was a response by the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  There was a direction from the Board, Mr. Chair, indicating we would not change the procedural dates in advance of this motion.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, come again?


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure.  Was there a letter of direction?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I have them right here, if it helps.  I have both letters from the Board.


MR. VLAHOS:  Let's look at that.
MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There were two, sir.  The first responded to -- I believe Ms. Newland is handing them out.

MS. NEWLAND:  I only have one copy.  That is one of the two letters.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, is that -- sir, the January 16th letter was quite short.  What it said, and that was in response to our -- I'm sorry, that was in response to our first letter, the week of January 13th.  Excuse me, the week of -- sorry.  

That was in response to our letter of January 13th in which we said we're bringing this motion.  We're sending this letter, in part, to advise other intervenors that we're asking, among other things, for an extension of the time.

The Board wrote back, Mr. O'Dell wrote back, on the 16th saying:  

“Thank you for your letter.  The Board will not alter the existing procedural dates for the PowerStream application prior to receipt by the Board of a motion requesting alteration.  Upon receiving such a motion, the Board will deal with the matter in the usual manner and will consider and determine whether any amendments to the procedural dates are warranted.”

     At that point we filed our motion the next day, I believe, that letter was on the -- from the 16th.  We filed our letter -- our motion the next day.  In the cover letter to our motion material we said -- we actually quoted from Mr. O'Dell's letter.  We said:  You've told us you're not going to change any procedural requirements until the motion is filed.  We've now filed the motion.  Please confirm that we won't be required to file our final argument.

We received the letter that you -- that I believe you have now from the 20th.  At that point saying:  Well, we won't amend any procedural dates until the hearing of a disposition of the motion.  Which is why I'm in a bit of a bind in terms of timing, but that may also help to explain where the intervenors would stand.

MR. VLAHOS:  Well, I don't think anything needs to be changing.  I don't think anything has to change from that letter until the Board disposes of this motion.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm fine with that, sir, as long as I know I don't have to be writing my argument tonight to make sure it is in before you dispose of it.

MR. VLAHOS:  No, sir.  I don't think the Board intends to prejudice anyone.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  With that, then, we're adjourned.
     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourns at 5:35 p.m.
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